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Rand thousands, unless otherwise indicated
31 March 2009 30 June 2008

9 months 12 months

Revenue 2 883 102  3 867 565

Loss before taxation (312 030) (256 281)

Capital and reserves 1 408 949 1 390 233

Total tangible assets (excluding cash) 2 556 781  2 831 028

Return on total tangible assets (12,7%) (6,2%)

Return on shareholders’ interest (26,4%) (12,9%)

Ratio of borrowings to capital and reserves 33% 39%

In cents, where applicable 31 March 2009 30 June 2008
9 Months 12 Months

Headline loss (45,6) (111,0)

Loss (63,0) (198,6)

Operating cash flow (37,0) 19  

Tangible net asset value 197 1 514

Market price – End of period
Ordinary 38 350
N Ordinary 42 330

Price range – High
Ordinary 350 1 000
N Ordinary 330 785

Price range – Low
Ordinary 33 340
N Ordinary 32 220

Financial Highlights

Statistics Per Share

REVENUE, TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS (excluding cash) AND RETURN ON TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS

Segment Revenue Total tangible assets Return on total tangible assets

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
9 months 12 months 9 months 12 months

Rm % Rm % Rm % Rm % % %

Textiles 1 205   42 1 703 44 1 428 56 1 572 55 (13) (3)

Apparel and

household textiles 1 304 45 1 694 44 720 28 763 27 (19) (14)

Office automation and

consumer electronics 149 5 204 5 129 5 152 5 7 7

Toys 224 8 267 7 122 5 131 5 43 30

Other – – – – 158 6 213 8 (42) (27)

R2 882  100 R3 868 100 R2 557  100 R2 831 100 (13) (6)

2007 R3 793  R2 854 4

2006 R3 584  R2 473 6

2005 R3 745  R2 435 5
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Corporate Structure
The following, as at 31 March 2009 are 100% owned unless otherwise stated.

DIVISIONS

Bibette

Bonwit

Brits Nonwoven

Cape Underwear
Manufacturers

Charmfit

Creative Fashions

Cygnet Manufacturing Co

Dermar Design Centre

Desirée Quilted Products

• Frame Textile Group

Monviso Knitwear

Prestige Apparel Group

• Seardel Group Properties

Seardel Management
Services

Straton Clothing

SEARDEL INVESTMENT CORPORATION LIMITED (SEARDEL)

SEARDEL GROUP

TRADING (PTY) LTD

HARVEN

MANUFACTURING

CO (PVT)

LTD* – 50%

BRITS AUTOMOTIVE

SYSTEMS (PTY) 

LTD – 51%

PRIMA TOY 
AND LEISURE

GROUP 
(PTY) LTD

FRAME

INDUSTRIALS

(PTY) LTD

OCEANAIR

TRAVEL (PTY)

LTD – 55%

DIVISIONS

Sharp Electronics

SEARTEC
TRADING (PTY) LTD

NYENYE CLOTHING
MANUFACTURERS

(PTY) LTD

• Denotes property-owning.

* Incorporated in Zimbabwe.

VAL HAU ET CIE

(PTY) LTD
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OVERVIEW
This is my first annual report as chairman of the Group. I hope in future
to be able to routinely report on the fact that the Group is in a profitable
state, but clearly that is some way off from my present report. The Group
has been through a wall of fire over the last year and came perilously
close to being closed down altogether. While the Group has always had
a strong balance sheet with a significantly positive net asset value per
share way in excess of its market capitalisation, the size of the cash
losses realised by the Group in its trading over the last year or two
created unmanageable pressures on its level of debt. Group debt rose
well in excess of its banking facilities and it was not able to increase them
in the ordinary course of its banking relationships.

This obliged the Group to seek out fresh capital of some R306m. In
light of the severe difficulties in which the Group found itself and further in
light of the general view in the market that manufacturing clothing and
textiles might not be profitable into the future, the Group was unable to 
find support for such capital raising among its then existing shareholders.
It did, however, find support from a ‘white knight’ in the form of Hosken
Consolidated Investments Limited (“HCI”) acting with strong assistance of
the trade union representing Seardel’s employees, namely the Southern
African Clothing and Textile Workers Union. Essentially this allowed the
Group to be stabilised at the cost of issuing some 612m new shares 
(over and above the then existing 92m shares). The consequence is that
HCI has become the new controlling shareholder of the Group, holding
some 71% of the Group’s equity via a subsidiary.

This recapitalisation has been the beginning of a very painful set 
of changes in the Group which are the result of the HCI input into 
the Group. They are in my opinion the only chance the Group has of
returning to profit as a substantial manufacturing operation in the 
future. For shareholders who would prefer the Group to shut down 
its manufacturing operations and realise its net asset value for their 
benefit this is not going to be a comfortable ride, as HCI and the Seardel 
board are committed to retaining as many manufacturing jobs as can be
profitably sustained. For employees who hope the Group will continue to
provide stabile employment for a long time into the future, this is going
to be a conditional ride. The condition is that we together transform the
Group into a world class manufacturing operation, able to hold its own,
profitably, against local and foreign competitors alike. We believe this can
be done. We believe we can in the future employ more than the 14 847
direct jobs the Group provided as it entered the watershed events
above. In truth we are very committed to this objective. However, it
cannot be done without transforming the operations of the Group into a
coherent, coordinated, sleek, manufacturing operation that travels at the
head of efficient practices rather than being dragged along at the back.

To date we have made a great start to resurrecting the phoenix. The
Group has made its myrrh nest, been through the fire and the new
phoenix has risen out of the ashes. The question is: what is the life of 
this new phoenix to be?

To date we have achieved the following:
1. Finances
• Recapitalised the Group with sufficient capital for its ongoing needs;
• Renegotiated the banking facilities to June 2010 into a stable 

form providing security and sufficient time to return the Group 
to profitability; and

• Put in place programs to reduce working capital requirements of
each business unit and limit foreign currency risk.

2. Management
• The previous executive directorship of the company has been

replaced. Our new executive management team, both competent
and loyal, are capable of providing both the vision and the leadership
needed to integrate and re-energise the Group;

• Promoted several key individuals from within the Group who carry

both the organisational memory of the Group as well as housing
much of its key relationships with customers and suppliers alike; and

• Hired key industrial engineers mainly from the motor industry to
upgrade the flow of work, decrease the turnaround time for orders
and lead the transformation of the production floor into a world
class operation.

3. Production:
• Without doubt the most painful decision to date has been to close

down the Frame vertical pipeline in New Germany with a loss of some
1 400 jobs, almost 10% of all employees of the group. In truth the
Group had no choice but to close the pipeline which was generating
losses in excess of R10m per month and was budgeted to continue
at these sort of levels into the foreseeable future;

• We have merged operations that could be streamlined;
• Introduced consistent work standards across the Group as well as

the systematic monitoring of workflow and causes of inefficiency; and
• Commenced the introduction of single piece workflow and systems

to accelerate the speed of style changes.

4. Forensic Issues:
• The board has commissioned an extensive forensic audit of past

conduct in the company. In consequence the Group has launched
an action consisting of various substantial claims for relief, the 
total value of which is some R300m  against former directors of the
company and its subsidiaries, primarily related to personal property
transactions, the opportunity for which the company believes ought
to have been passed to the Seardel Group. This action is being
defended and is likely to continue for some time;

• The Group has committed substantial management time to
‘cleaning up’ the industry. This has involved cooperation with SARS
identifying practices which lead to foreign manufactured goods
reaching the S.A. market without appropriate customs duty being
paid and how these can be eliminated;

• We have devoted considerable energies to resisting a growing
number of ‘non-compliant’ manufacturing operations paying wages
less than those prescribed by the bargaining council. We have also
prohibited the use of such operations for the manufacture of work
under the control to the Group by way of CMT and are working hard
to increase the robustness of the bargaining council in dealing with
such development. While all these practices might appear to represent
cost saving opportunities for clothing manufacturers and retailers
alike, we are committed to improvements that are lawful under both
the taxation laws of the country and compliant with the prescribed
wages and conditions agreed in centrally conducted bargaining.

These changes represent the beginning of a systematic effort to turn
around the fortunes of the Group and to return it to the position of 
pride in the industry which it held for a long time. Key to everything as
we see it is the drive and determination of key management in solving
problems within its own capabilities. Clearly there are external issues
such as the rate of exchange and the significant short term decline 
in world demand for clothing which will have an effect on the pace 
of the turn around, but for so long as we have valuable improvements
to introduce which result in the better use of resources under our
control, the future of the Group will primarily remain in our hands and
we have only ourselves to blame if we do not succeed.

John Copelyn
Chairman
17 August 2009

Chairman’s Report
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JOHN COPELYN B.A. (HONS), B.PROC

Non-executive. Joined Hosken Consolidated Investments
Limited as Chief Executive in 1997. Mr Copelyn was general
secretary of various unions in the clothing and textile
industries from 1974 before becoming a member of
parliament in 1994. He holds various directorships and is
non-executive Chairman of eTV and Tsogo Sun Holdings
Limited. Age 59.

NEIL LAZARUS SC BA, LLB (WITS)

Independent, non-executive. He formerly practiced as a
senior counsel at the Johannesburg Bar. He is a corporate
finance and legal advisor to various listed and unlisted
companies. South African-born. Age 51.

WALTER SIMEONI (AUT)

Seardel director since February 2001, Managing Director
of Frame Textile Group since December 1990, Vice
Chairman of Cotton SA, former President of the South
African Textile Federation, former Chairman of SACTMA
and President of the International Textile Manufacturers
Federation. The Management Institute of Southern Africa
has awarded him a fellowship for his contribution to
commerce and industry. The Scientific Board of the
Novosibirsk State University of Economics and Management
has awarded him the title of Honorary Associate Professor.
He was born and educated in Austria and has 44 years
experience in the textile industry. Age 65.
Mr Simeoni is due to retire as Group Executive officer with
effect from November 2009.

ANTHONY DIXON-SEAGER DIP.BUS M(HONS)

Executive director, Mr Dixon-Seager has a wealth of senior
management experience in manufacturing environments
across a number of industries. He has been with Hosken
Consolidated Investments Limited for 5 years before he has
joined Seardel as Chief Operating Officer. Age 61.

KEVIN GOVENDER
Independent, non-executive, Mr Govender is the Chief Financial
Officer of Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited. He was
appointed to the board in October 2008. Age 38.

AMON NTULI
Independent, non-executive, Mr Ntuli was the president of
the Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers Union for
10 years and has been a director of SACTWU Investment
Group since inception. He is also a director of various 
trade union investment companies and a non-executive
director of Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited. He
was appointed to the board in October 2008. Age 50.

STUART QUEEN C.A. (SA)

Executive director, Mr Queen a Chartered Accountant, has
worked at Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited for 
a number of years. He was appointed to the board in
October 2008 as Chief Financial Officer. During March 
2009 Mr Queen accepted the appointment as Group Chief
Executive Officer (Designate). Age 36.

YUNIS SHAIK B.PROC.

Independent, non-executive, Mr Shaik is an attorney of the
High Court and presently in private practice. He is former
deputy general secretary of the Southern African Clothing
and Textile Workers Union, a director of Workers’ College,
has served as the senior commissioner to the CCMA in
Kwazulu Natal and a non-executive director of Hosken
Consolidated Investments Limited. He was appointed to the
board in October 2008. Age 51.

MOHAMED AHMED BSC (ACCOUNTING)

Independent , non-executive, Mr Ahmed has previously held
directorships in MTN, Real Africa Holdings and numerous
entities within the clothing and textile industry. He was
appointed to the board in October 2008. Age 44.

Directors at 
31 March 2009FINANCIAL YEARS 1969-2009

The Seardel Group was established in 1957 by Aaron Searll with the purchase

of 66,7% of Elatta Manufacturing Company (Pty) Ltd for R500. It was

subsequently renamed Venus Clothing Company (Pty) Ltd. This company

manufactured nurses’ caps and bras, and employed 15 people with an annual

revenue of R31 156. Then followed the acquisition in 1967 of a controlling

interest in Desirée Lingerie Holdings Ltd (Desirée). Desirée acquired a number of

apparel manufacturing operations in the Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal 

over a period of time.

Seardel was incorporated on 25 September 1968 as an investment

holding company for the purpose of acquiring 50% of the issued share capital

of Desirée. Seardel then acquired or restructured in the following years:

1978 The remaining Desirée minority shareholders.

1979 Charmfit Holdings Ltd together with its subsidiary, 

Prima Toys (Pty) Ltd.

1981 A controlling interest in Sharp Electronics (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd.

1982 Dubin Investments Ltd, which owned amongst others South African

Clothing Industries Ltd.

1989 The Bonwit clothing manufacturing business from Woolworths.

1992 A controlling interest in Frame Group Holdings Ltd in partnership

with Gregory Knitting Mills.

1994 The Sharp Electronics division was separately listed on the

Johannesburg Stock Exchange under the name Seartec Ltd.

1996 The remaining 50% in Bibette (Pty) Ltd.

1998 The Prima Toys division was separately listed on the Johannesburg

Stock Exchange under the name Prima Toy & Leisure Group Ltd.

2001 Frame Group Ltd became a 100% owned subsidiary of Seardel

following a successful bid to all minorities.

Prima Toy & Leisure Group Ltd became a 100% owned subsidiary 

of Seardel following a successful offer to all shareholders.

Seartec Ltd became a 100% owned subsidiary of Seardel following

a successful offer to minority shareholders.

2007 Seardel disposed of 25,1% of its holding in Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd

to a BEE group.

2009 Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd became a 100% owned subsidiary

following a successful offer to the minority shareholder.

Seardel concluded a rights offer which resulted in Hosken

Consolidated Investments Limited obtaining 70,6% of the total

issued share capital of the company.

Total employees number 13 221.

Corporate History
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Responsibility for corporate governance
The Group’s directors and senior management subscribe to the highest
levels of corporate governance and endorse the Code of Corporate
Practices and Conduct as contained in the King Reports. By supporting
the code, the directors have recognised the need to conduct the
Group’s affairs with integrity and are committed to the establishment
and maintenance of effective structures, policies and practices that
improves corporate governance on a sustainable basis. 

The directors acknowledge and accept full responsibility for the
financial information contained in this report. They have made the
necessary appointments to ensure that the Group’s operations conform
to achieving high standards of corporate governance and to the
implementation of all its internal control procedures. They subscribe to
the philosophy of transparent, fair, reliable and easily understandable
reporting to stakeholders and as a whole strive to balance stakeholder
interest in the interest of the Company.

Board of directors
At year end, the board of Seardel consisted of nine directors, details of
whom appear on page 5 of this report. The board had six independent
non-executive members namely Mr J Copelyn, Mr N Lazarus, Mr M Ahmed,
Mr K Govender, Mr A Ntuli and Mr Y Shaik. 

The board is chaired by a non-executive Chairman and the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate with a clear division
of responsibilities.

There is a distinctive division of responsibilities at board level so that
no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

The board as a whole, within its powers and in a formal and
transparent manner, is responsible for the selection and appointment 
of directors.

Based on the detailed information made available to the directors,
they are of the opinion that the Group will continue to be a going
concern for the foreseeable future.

Board Attendance
Name Director 07 Aug 2008 07 Oct 2008 17 Feb 2009
A Searll *
A D Jacobson *
R A P Upton *
J Copelyn
N N Lazarus
W Simeoni
M H Ahmed * *
A E Dixon-Seager *
T G Govender * *
A M Ntuli * *
S A Queen *
Y Shaik * *

* Not a director at date of meeting

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee, which comprised Mr NN Lazarus and 
Mr J Copelyn, approves the remuneration and terms of employment of
all directors and senior management. There are no long-term appointments
of directors, all of whom are subject to re-election every three years.
Directors’ emoluments and share options are to be found in the 
relevant note to the financial statements on page 39 and their detailed
shareholding are reflected on page 16.

The Remuneration Committee ensures that the Corporation’s
directors and employees are fairly rewarded and that salary and wage
adjustments for the Corporation’s staff and scheduled employees are
fair and market related.

Risk Management
Risk management encompasses all significant business risks which
could undermine the achievement of business objectives. The
Corporation has implemented and adheres to appropriate risk

management measures to counter significant business risk which 
could undermine the achievement of business objectives. The
measures include clear accountability for risk management as a key
performance area of the managers. 

The directors, as guardians of the Group’s assets, have a duty 
to ensure their proper use and protection. To this end, they have
instituted self-insurance procedures within professionally produced 
and acceptable parameters.

The Group’s insurance broker professionally monitors its self-
insurance and risk management program. All major risks are reinsured,
and emphasis on good housekeeping principles and compliance 
with the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Act ensures
the keenest possible insurance rates. There are stringent levels to the
exposures created by the scheme, and catastrophe risks are always
reinsured. The insured value of the Group’s assets is constantly
reassessed to ensure that they are fully protected against loss.

Audit Committee
The audit committee is a sub-committee of the board of directors.
The committee assists the board through advising and making
recommendations on financial reporting, internal controls, external and
internal audit functions and statutory and regulatory compliance of the
company, but retain no executive powers or responsibility.

At year-end, the audit committee consisted of two independent
non-executive directors, Mr M Ahmed and Mr NN Lazarus. The Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, senior financial executives
of the Group and representatives from the external and internal auditors
attend committee meetings by invitation only. The internal and external
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The audit
committee has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise
and experience of the Chief Financial Officer.
The audit committee held two meetings during the period.
In execution of its duties during the past financial year, the Audit
Committee has:

– Obtained assurance as to the independence of the committee
members;

– Nominated for appointment as auditor of the company a
registered auditor who, in the opinion of the audit committee,
was independent of the company;

– Determined the auditor’s term of engagement and the fees to be
paid and

– Determined the nature and extent of any non-audit services
which the auditors have provided.

The restructuring of the board meant that for a portion of the period
under review, the audit committee did not function as a separate body
but its duties were carried out by the full board.

Internal Audit
The Group’s internal audit department functions independently,
appraising, examining and evaluating the Group’s system and internal
controls. The scope of the internal audit function is to review the reliability
and integrity of financial information, the systems of internal control 
and the means of safeguarding assets. On a regular basis the directors
assess whether the internal accounting controls are adequate to ensure
that the financial records may be relied on for preparing the financial
statements and maintaining accountability for assets and liabilities.

The Group’s internal audit division is used for the textile division.
The clothing, consumer and toy division’s internal audit was outsourced
to KPMG Risk Advisory Services for a portion of the year but will be
performed in-house during the new financial year.

Transformation
The spirit of transformation is conveyed throughout the Corporation.
The Group and its subsidiaries are committed to providing equal
opportunities to all its employees, irrespective of ethnic origin or race.

Corporate Governance Report
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(RAND THOUSANDS)

OPERATIONS 

Revenue

Operating (loss)/profit before finance costs
Net finance costs
Share of losses from joint venture

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Taxation

(Loss)/profit for the period
(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders

CASH FLOW

Net cash flow
Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations – nominal
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities
Operating cash flow per share (cents)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Capital and reserves (including negative goodwill)
Net borrowings
Other debt (excluding deferred liabilities)
Working capital
Total tangible assets (excluding cash)

RATIOS

Profitability
Operating (loss)/profit as percentage of revenue
(Loss)/profit for the period as percentage of revenue
Return on total assets
Return on investments
Return on shareholders’ interest

Leverage
Ratio of borrowings to capital and reserves
Ratio of debt to capital and reserves

Liquidity
Current ratio
Solvency ratio
Finance charges cover

Productivity
Total assets turn
Number of employees
Revenue per employee (Rand)
Operating (loss)/profit per employee (Rand)
Assets per employee (Rand)
Cash value added factor

SHARE STATISTICS (Refer to page 44 for analysis of shareholders)

Weighted average number of shares issued (000)
Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)
(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)
Proposed dividend
Headline (loss)/earnings yield at period end
Dividend yield at period end
Proposed dividend cover
Net asset value per share (cents) – excluding intangible assets
Total number of shares traded (000)
Total value of shares traded (R000)
Total number of share transactions
Percentage of issued shares traded
Market price (cents)– highest – ordinary

– highest – N ordinary
– lowest – ordinary
– lowest – N ordinary
– period end – ordinary
– period end – N ordinary 

DEFINITIONS
The following definitions have been used in computing 
the ratios and statistics set out in the seven year review
opposite.

NET CASH FLOW
Income before taxation plus depreciation, less the cash
elements of taxation and dividend.

RETURN ON TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS
The percentage of the aggregate of operating profit and
attributable earnings of associated entities and joint
ventures, to total tangible assets (excluding cash).

RETURN ON SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
The percentage of earnings attributable to shareholders
(before amortisation of negative goodwill), to capital and
reserves (including negative goodwill).

RATIO OF BORROWINGS TO CAPITAL AND
RESERVES
The total of interest-bearing liabilities to capital and reserves.

RATIO OF DEBT TO CAPITAL AND RESERVES
The ratio of total liabilities net of cash resources, excluding
deferred liabilities, to capital and reserves.

CURRENT RATIO
The ratio of current assets to current liabilities.

SOLVENCY RATIO
The percentage of net cash flow to total liabilities, excluding
deferred liabilities.

FINANCE CHARGES COVER
The number of times that net finance charges are covered
by operating income.

CASH VALUE ADDED FACTOR
The percentage of value added to cost of materials and
services purchased.

DIVIDEND COVER
Headline earnings per share divided by the distribution/
dividend declared.

HEADLINE EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE
Headline earnings/loss attributable to shareholders divided
by the weighted average number of shares in issue.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
Shareholders’ interest, excluding intangible assets, divided
by the net number of shares in issue.

PRIOR YEAR FIGURES 
No IFRS or prior year adjustments have been made in the
2003-2004 years.

Seven Year Review
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2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
9 months

2 883 102 3 867 565 3 793 357 3 583 702 3 745 145 3 793 586 4 031 047

(241 892) (165 455) 111 668 152 276 129 210 214 811 209 925 
67 635  81 645 57 078 46 572 56 030 83 033 97 141
2 503  9 181 2 973  446 – – – 

(312 030) (256 281) 51 617 105 258  73 180 131 778 112 784 
(27 470) (72 212) 855 18 841  23 10 045 21 380

(284 560) (184 069) 50 762 86 417 73 157 121 733 91 404 
(279 344) (178 842) 50 770 85 471 73 255 121 733 91 404 

(195 652) (86 619) 98 185 159 902    98 899   218 076 208 639
(162 040) 6 023 (161 019) 128 246    102 863   243 284 300 579
(56 616) (78 608) (4 629) 4 560 (34 756) (78 830) (109 627)

(37) 19 (150) 134 99 195 111

) 1 408 949  1 390 233 1 541 093 1 373 205   1 394 782    1 217 068  1 111 713
460 464  542 157 466 364  296 571    319 368   341 118 493 668

) 574 399  753 410 625 349 588 023     500 047   627 305 689 555
634 868  527 054 886 730 817 179     850 251    916 568 788 989

2 556 781 2 831 028 2 853 994 2 473 202   2 435 313    2 328 400  2 433 207 

(8,4%) (4,3%) 2,9% 4,2% 3,5% 4,7% 4,3%
(9,9%) (4,8%) 1,3% 2,4% 2,0% 3,2% 2,3%

(12,7%) (6,2%) 3,8% 6,1% 5,3% 7,7% 7,2%
(14,6%) (6,3%) 1,8% 3,5% 3,0% 3,7% 2,3%
(26,4%) (12,9%) 3,3% 6,2% 5,2% 7,4% 5,1%

33% 39% 31% 22% 23% 28% 44%
73% 93% 71% 64% 58% 80% 106%

1,7 1,4 1,9 2,0 2,2 2,2 1,9
(23,9%) (6,4%) 7,9% 15,1% 7,2% 19,1% 16,2%
(3,6) (2,0) 2,0 3,3 2,3 2,6 2,2

1,5 1,4 1,3 1,4 1,5 1,6 1,7
13 221 14 847 15 343 15 170 15 280 16 925 17 192

) 290 760  260 495 247 237 236 236   245 101 224 141 234 472
) (24 395) (11 144) 7 278 10 038   8 456  12 692 12 211
) 193 388  190 680 186 013 163 032   159 379   137 572 141 531

39% 61% 55% 69% 65% 62% 50%

443 253  90 048 91 015 105 224 122 362 128 215 114 795 
(45,6) (111,0) 22,7 73,0 58,6 66,0 71,8
(63,0) (198,6) 55,8 81,2 58,3 94,9 79,6

– – 12,0 27,0 11,0 14,0 14,0
(157,3%) (33,1%) 3,0% 10,6% 16,4% 30,7% 21,5%

– – 1,6% 4,0% 3,0% 6,5% 4,4%
– – 1,9 2,7 5,3 4,7 5,1

197  1 514 1 703 1 502 1 212 949 866
9 870  6 962 7 136 36 715 31 137 11 309 13 028
5 372  41 609 49 384 173 247 86 883 27 448 42 466

437  801 565 1 222 1 382 590 500
1,9% 7,6% 7,8% 39,3 25,4 8,8 11,3

350  1 000 810 700 430 335 420
330  785 825 700 425 330 415
33 340 651 365 205 185 200
32 220 600 350 181 200 215
38 350 750 700 360 215 330
42 330 750 670 370 215 314
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Rand thousands 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
9 months

Cash derived from revenue 2 969 218   3 848 330 3 630 437 3 664 249 3 800 316 

Paid to suppliers for materials and services 2 136 114  2 392 787  2 346 183 2 162 289 2 355 528  

Cash value added 833 104   1 455 543 1 284 254 1 501 960 1 444 788   

Interest received 18 859  31 134 21 494 15 419 12 176  

Total wealth created 851 963  1 486 677 1 305 748 1 517 379 1 456 964

Distributed as follows:

Employees

Administration 197 062   279 916 218 566 195 258 226 117 

Production 443 899  639 566  685 533 668 754 666 479

Sales 95 841   118 243 113 676 131 503 87 698 

736 802   1 037 725 1 017 775 995 515 980 294

Providers of capital

Interest paid on borrowings 86 494 112 779  78 572 61 991 68 206 

Dividend to shareholders – 10 821 24 688 12 603 18 034 

86 494 123 600   103 260 74 594 86 240 

Monetary exchanges with government

Taxation (including customs and excise duty*) 39 343   101 259 109 246 82 804 27 372  

P.A.Y.E. 86 393  118 761 127 088 101 153 103 460

V.A.T. 83 111  113 940 126 346 140 101 158 992  

R.S.C. levies – – 214 16 904 20 654 

Incentives (18 140) (14 631) (17 162) (21 938) (49 784)

190 707  319 329 345 732 319 024 260 694 

(Utilised in operations)/Retained (162 040) 6 023 (161 019) 128 246 129 736 
to develop future growth

Total wealth distributed 851 963 1 486 677 1 305 748 1 517 379 1 456 964 

*Excluding 2005.

Value added is a measure of the wealth that the Group has created in its manufacturing and distribution operations by adding value to the cost of its
raw materials and services purchased.

The statement above shows how that wealth was created, and also how it was shared between employees and the providers of funds to the Group.

The statement takes into account the amounts retained and reinvested in the Group for the replacement of assets and the development of future
operations.

Cash Value Added Statement 

Distribution of wealth

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Employees 86,5%  69,8% 77,9% 65,6% 67,3%

Government 22,4%  21,5% 26,5% 21,0% 17,9%

Retained/(utilised) (19,0%) 0,4% (12,3%) 8,5% 8,9%

Lenders 10,1% 7,6% 6,0% 4,1% 4,7%

Shareholders – 0,7% 1,9% 0,8% 1,2%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Employment Equity Report

31 March 2009 Designated Non-Designated TOTAL

Male Female White Foreign
Male National

Occupational Levels A C I A C I W W Male Female

Top management 3 3 1 – 1 – 7 25 4 1 45

Senior management 3 15 20 5 10 4 23 45 2 1 128

Professionally qualified, experienced 

specialists and mid-management 6 38 22 15 82 13 57 76 8 3 320

Skilled technical and academically

qualified workers, junior management,

supervisors, foremen, and superintendents 106 265 291 79 802 170 163 118 47 30  2 071 

Semi-skilled and discretionary

decision making 790 468 151 2 072 2 624 299 57 68 117 375  7 021 

Unskilled and defined decision making 457 254 19 653 913 18 4 4 6 28  2 356 

TOTAL PERMANENT 1 365  1 043  504 2 824 4 432 504 311 336 184 438  11 941  

Non-permanent employees 294 79 54 496 175 86 16 19 17 44 1 280 

GRAND TOTAL 1 659 1 122 558 3 320 4 607 590 327 355 201 482 13 221  

30 June 2008 Designated Non-Designated TOTAL

Male Female White Foreign
Male National

Occupational Levels A C I A C I W W Male Female

Top management – 2 4 – – – 19 53 5 1 84

Senior management 1 16 22 – 27 5 28 39 1 – 139

Professionally qualified, experienced 

specialists and mid-management 17 59 28 28 165 14 57 66 17 4 455

Skilled technical and academically

qualified workers, junior management,

supervisors, foremen, and superintendents 179 305 313 114 894 191 202 145 17 8  2 368 

Semi-skilled and discretionary

decision making 761 577 137 1 898 3 198 226 58 11 117 319  7 302 

Unskilled and defined decision making 594 299 48 729 773 19 6 64 3 23  2 558 

TOTAL PERMANENT 1 552 1 258 552 2 769 5 057 455 370 378 160 355  12 906  

Non-permanent employees 390 55 44 1 127 43 125 15 14 24 104 1 941 

GRAND TOTAL 1 942 1 313 596 3 896 5 100 580 385 392 184 459 14 847  
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the group financial statements and financial
statements of Seardel Investment Corporation Limited,
comprising the balance sheets at 31 March 2009, the income
statements, the statements of recognised income and
expense, cash flow statements for the period then ended, and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, and the directors’ report, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by
the Companies Act of South Africa. 

The directors’ responsibility includes: designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk
management as well as the preparation of the supplementary
schedules included in these financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the group and
company’s ability to continue as a going concern and there is
no reason to believe the businesses will not be a going concern
in the year ahead.

The auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the
group annual financial statements and the company’s annual
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of group annual financial statements and annual
financial statements

The group financial statements and financial statements 
of Seardel Investment Corporation Limited, as identified in the
first paragraph, were approved by the board of directors on 
17 August 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

S A Queen
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER - DESIGNATE

Directors’

Responsibility
Statement

Independent
Auditor’s Report
To the Members of Seardel Investment Corporation Limited.

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the group financial statements and the financial
statements of Seardel Investment Corporation Limited, which comprise
the balance sheets at 31 March 2009, and the income statements, 
the statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the
period ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes, and the directors’ report as set out on pages 13 to 15.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required
by the Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Seardel
Investment Corporation Limited at 31 March 2009, and its consolidated
and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate
cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the
Companies Act of South Africa.

Other Matters
The supplementary schedule set out on page 44 does not form part
of the financial statements and is presented as additional information.
We have not audited this schedule and accordingly we do not express
an opinion on this schedule.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditor

Per Gary Thompson
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director
17 August 2009
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OVERVIEW
The period under review was significant in the life of Seardel. As
reported on in the June 2008 annual financial statements, the pressures
brought to bear on the group resulted in it breaching its funding
covenants. To save itself from almost inevitable liquidation, the Group
needed to be recapitalised. A rights issue was concluded on 27 October
2008 which saw Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (“HCI”)
become the controlling shareholder with a 71% shareholding. As a
result of the successful conclusion of the rights issue and the provision
of security, the Group’s commercial funders, who have combined
facilities with the Group in excess of R750 million, have agreed to leave
their facilities in place until 30 June 2010 provided that the Group does
not breach any of its facility terms. 

Since HCI has taken control, significant changes have been made to
the senior management ranks and the board has been reconstituted.
Seardel has commenced with an extensive restructuring program, the
main thrusts of which include:

• Improving efficiencies through the adoption of world class
manufacturing practices; 

• Eliminating low margin turnover by setting margin hurdle rates and
if necessary, right sizing the Group. The industry is characterised
by long lead times and so the benefit of this initiative will take
some time to filter through; 

• Looking to increase market share in higher margin areas;

• Reducing working capital levels throughout the value chain;

• Increasing production flexibility to enable quicker turnaround
times and shorter runs in line with international retail trends. In
order to achieve this goal, factory layouts need to be redesigned,
employees need to undergo extensive training and work needs 
to be done on refining the Group’s supply chain management
practices and expertise;

• Moving from a decentralised strategy to a more centralised
approach;

• Unlocking economies of scale through factory consolidations; 

• Ensuring that the existing assets of the Group generate
satisfactory long term returns and that future capital is only
allocated to projects where there is a high degree of confidence
in the expected returns; and

• Allocating finance costs to each division based on the levels of
capital employed in order to better reflect the actual contribution
of these divisions and the design of individual bonus structures
that reward management for outperformance taking into account
the capital under their management.

Subsequent events
Frame Vertical Pipeline
On 9 April 2009, the Group announced, on SENS, its intention to close
certain divisions within the Frame Textile Group’s vertical pipeline, namely
the Spinning, Weaving, Finishing and Denim divisions (“the affected
divisions”). After having spent a number of months evaluating the current
performance, considering the prospects of these divisions and stress
testing a number of restructuring alternatives, it became clear that there
was little that could be done, within management’s control, to return
these divisions to profitability. These divisions have been significant 
loss makers for a number of years, have been through a number of
restructurings and significant amounts of capital expenditure have been
incurred in attempts to stem the losses. However, it was apparent that
even at budgeted efficiencies that are considered world class, these
divisions were still predicting losses.

Subsequent to this announcement, Government spearheaded an
effort to save this industrial capacity through collaboration between the
Industrial Development Corporation, the National Empowerment Fund,
the KwaZulu-Natal provincial government and the Group. Regrettably,
despite the best efforts of all parties concerned, there has been no
positive outcome from these deliberations. We are very appreciative of

the efforts made and commitment shown by the relevant parties.
The discontinued divisions made an operating loss before interest

of some R98 million in the period under review. This loss is before
accounting for specific closure costs but includes asset impairments of
R35 million and increased inventory provisions of R12 million.

The cost of closing these divisions will affect the results to 31 March
2010 as it is estimated that retrenchment costs, provisions for onerous
contracts and ongoing operating losses to be incurred during the
shutdown period will be in excess of R150 million. However, despite
these costs, the release of working capital and subsequent sale of the
plant and equipment will result in the closure being cash positive to the
Group. It is anticipated that the closure of these divisions will result in a
net cash inflow of some R250 million although a large portion of this 
will only flow once the plant and equipment is sold which, given the
current economic climate, is expected to take somewhere between 18
and 36 months. Furthermore, the properties occupied by these divisions
are owned by the Group and will be surplus to requirements, it has not
yet been decided whether these properties will be sold or leased.

FIFA Contract
Subsequent to year end the Group managed to negotiate a US$ 2.175
million reduction in the minimum guarantee requirements with regard to
the FIFA contract.

Results
The financial year end has been changed to March to fall in line with
Seardel’s holding company, HCI, hence the period under review is 
a 9 month period. Seardel recorded an attributable loss of some 
R279 million for the period. However, this result has been severely
affected by a number of once off costs that were processed during the
current period, most notably:

• An R83 million impairment of asset expense, R35 million of which
relates to a further impairment of the Frame vertical pipeline
assets arrived at based on an independent valuators assessment
of their net realisable value, given the current market conditions. It
is unlikely that these assets will be sold into the local market and
hence the ruling exchange rate at the time of any sale is likely to
have an effect on the value received. R30 million of the impairment
charge relates to assets of divisions that have moved into a loss
making situation during the period. Accounting convention dictates
that these assets need to be valued at the lower of net realisable
value or depreciated cost. Initiatives are in place to address these
divisions with a view to returning them to profitability. R10 million of
the impairment charge relates to the write down of the intangible
asset recognised with respect to the FIFA contract, based on 
the latest projections. A further R8 million relates to a write down
of the Group’s interest in Sustainable Fibre Solutions (Pty) Ltd
(“SFS”) a company which produces fibre from Kenaf plant.  

• A R42 million charge relating to increased provisions for obsolete
inventory;

• R27 million worth of restructuring and retrenchment costs were
recognised during the period;

• A net R22 million foreign exchange loss was incurred due to
severe and rapid fluctuations in the exchange rate;

• An R11 million charge was processed with regard to provisions
for onerous contracts, the bulk of which relates to a contract for
the purchase of cotton to be delivered after 31 March 2009, at
prices above the closing price at that date; and

• Doubtful debt provisions were increased by R10 million. 

After adjusting for all the non-recurring items, Seardel recorded a core
attributable loss of approximately R101 million of which R68 million
relates to finance charges. This leaves a core operating loss of 
R33 million compared to a R2 million loss for the 12 months to June
2008. The increased core loss is largely due to:

• A decline in gross margins due to an inability to pass increasing
input costs on to customers. If one excludes the effect of the non-

Directors’ Report FOR THE 9 MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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recurring items, gross margins have declined by 3.5% from those
achieved in the prior period. A 3.5% reduction in margin translates
into a R94 million reduction in profits. Work is being done to
improve margins through efficiency gains, procurement practices
and the elimination of low margin turnover. 

• Distribution costs as a percentage of turnover have increased by
1% resulting in a R29 million reduction in profits;

• These factors have been partially offset by the fact that
administrative costs have been contained in the current year. If
one excludes non-recurring items, administration costs for the
current year are R94 million below that of the preceding year 
on an annualised basis which reflects some of the turnaround
initiatives implemented to date.

Restructuring initiatives 
Textiles
The textile division has been realigned around product clusters which
has resulted in Romatex Home Textiles, Desiree Quilted Products and
Frame Manchester now all falling under a household textile cluster. The
Group has invested some R6 million in an automated duvet and pillow
line for this cluster which raises the capacity for these products by some
65%. This plant was fully operational by the end of April 2009.    

Brits Non-Woven, Frame Industrials, Frame Fibres and Seardel’s
interest in Brits Automotive Systems (Pty) Ltd now all form part of 
the Non-woven cluster. In the period under review, some R26 million
was invested to establish production facilities in Gauteng, replace 
the inefficient production lines in the Western Cape and upgrade the
KwaZulu-Natal facility. This cluster now has production facilities in all its
major markets and stands to benefit from greater efficiencies and
reduced transport costs. This cluster interfaces with industrial markets
as opposed to the retail sector thereby offering the Group a measure of
diversification. However, the markets in which it operates, particularly
the automotive sector, have been severely affected by the economic
downturn. In our view this cluster should perform well once these
sectors show signs of recovery.

During the previous financial year, the Frame Knitting division acquired
the warp knitting business of Gregory Knitting Mills in order to increase
its product offering. We can report that the move and integration of 
these plants into the New Germany and Mobeni sites has already been
completed and now forms part of the Group’s knitting cluster.

Clothing
The Group has consolidated it’s Charmfit, Creative Fashions, Cygnet
and Cape Underwear divisions into a composite lingerie and swimwear
division. This consolidation allows the Group to smooth out the
production peaks and troughs due to seasonality, most notably in the
swimwear division, and enables the Group to eliminate lower margin
turnover which was being used to fill the factories in low demand
periods.  The consolidated division has been renamed Intimate Apparel
SA and has secured the renewal of the licence to manufacture and
distribute Speedo swimwear products for the region until 2014.

Plans are in place to merge the Bonwit and Bibette ladies formal wear
divisions. At this stage it is not envisaged that any production facilities
will be closed, however, the merger will allow administration overheads
to be reduced and design and marketing functions to be consolidated.

We will continue to monitor all the Group’s business units to ensure
that they have the prospect of making sustainable profits for
shareholders. Those with little prospect of making sustainable profits
will be restructured or closed.

Prima Toys
Turnover for the nine months to March 2009 has increased by 11% over
the corresponding period last year. This increase is contrary to the
current economic trend and has been achieved on improved market
share. Market share is dependent on many factors, not least of which
includes being the South African distributor for the majority of leading
international brands and characters and ensuring an effective presence
on the shop floor. Management’s efforts include maintaining sound

business relationships with Prima’s existing principals and securing
additional principals and licensing contracts for new characters that 
are released into the local market, especially when these coincide with
television and film releases.

Notwithstanding the shorter trading period and the economic
situation, Prima’s operating profit is some 2.6% higher than the 12
month period to 30 June 2008. However, it must be borne in mind that
this is a very seasonal business and both the 9 month period being
reported on and the 12 month comparative period include the peak
trading season. Having said this, the most pleasing aspect of Prima’s
performance is the fact that it managed to improve its operating profit
margin by some 3.2% despite the economic climate. This improvement
has been achieved on careful control of fixed overheads and the
elimination of unprofitable product lines which has resulted in the
closure of the last remaining production facilities. As staff were
redeployed, no retrenchment costs were incurred.

However, the first quarter of 2009 has served to confirm that we
cannot expect to escape the tough economic times unscathed. As 
a counter measure, we are placing greater emphasis on bringing 
the correct mix of product in the right volumes onto the market.
Concentration on working capital remains a priority. It is hoped that the
reducing interest rate and relatively stronger currency will improve
consumer confidence in time for Prima’s peak trading period.

Consumer Electronics
Trading conditions in the office automation industry were extremely
competitive with margins, as always, under pressure. Turnover in some
product lines declined as pricing wasn’t always competitive. The sales
of Sharp calculators were strong once again this year and achieved
good growth during the “back to school” periods. The closure of the
Scripto division went ahead as planned at the end of December 2008
and some R800 000 of closure costs were incurred. 

The division has concentrated on reducing infrastructure costs 
during the past quarter which we believe will show benefits in the 
year ahead. Sharp Corporation is continually improving their line-up of
copiers, cash registers and calculators and continue to be recognised
as a quality product. 

Working capital management has been greatly improved and
coupled with aggressive cost control resulted in a positive operating
cash-flow for the period.

Industry dynamics
Whilst fixing the issues internal to Seardel remains the key focus, the
textile and garment industry has been under severe pressure with a
number of companies either going into liquidation or announcing their
closure. As stated in previous reports, it is recognised that the local
industry cannot compete with imports from the East without effective
subsidisation, protections or a combination of the two. It is often touted
that the local industry is uncompetitive purely as a result of inefficiencies
on the part of local producers. This is a simplistic view as, whilst there
is certainly room for significant efficiency improvements, the non-
competitiveness of this industry is a multi faceted problem. Some of the
main issues facing the local industry include:

• Subsidisation programs, including state owned firms, in other
parts of the world. The garment industry has the ability to create
employment for relatively little investment with the cost per job
created being one of the lowest of all manufacturing sectors.
Governments in developing countries often use the industry as 
an employment generator, particularly in areas of low economic
activity and subsidise the industry heavily both directly and
indirectly;

• Although we recognise that some of the local employment
conditions need to be reviewed to bring them in line with other
industries in our own territory, the necessity to pay a living wage
means that the local industry is required to pay significantly 
higher wages than those paid in competing countries, including
neighbouring countries;  

• The subsidisation programs and lower wage costs result in
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international competitors achieving lower costs per unit
manufactured thereby attracting the large volumes generated 
by international retailers which result in longer runs and greater
efficiency;

• Very minimal protection is derived through logistics costs. The
cost of transporting textiles and garments from overseas, as a
percentage of purchase price, is minimal and so the industry 
does not enjoy the same level of protection from these costs as
compared to certain other local industries;

• The industry, particularly on the clothing side, is characterised by
relatively low barriers to entry, which is compounded by low
switching costs for customers;

• Some of our own economic policies have been detrimental to 
the development of the local industry. It is our view that the DCC
scheme has been ineffective as a support mechanism for the 
local manufacturing industry and has simply served to subsidise
fellow SACU members’ export programs at the expense of 
local manufacturers. The current SACU and SADC arrangements
are also problematic as these countries have discrepant wage
structures with very limited tariff protection offered to local
producers. In addition, import tariffs were reduced quicker and
further than was required in terms of the World Trade Organisation
agreements and well ahead of the local industries ability to adapt
to the international competition;   

• The import tariffs that are in place provide some protection but 
the level of illegal and illicit imports is such that these protections
do not have the full effect. We are encouraged by the work
currently being done by SARS to ensure compliance and this
initiative has our full support; and

• The issue of illegality is not confined to imports. Within the 
local market there is significant non-compliance to bargaining 
council agreements which undermines the competitiveness of
compliant manufacturers. To this end Seardel is encouraged by
the improved focus of the local bargaining council compliance
teams, but non-compliance is widespread and will require a
concerted effort to remedy. 

Although most of the issues mentioned above are beyond the control of
the Group, we are playing an active role in trying to influence those we can.  
We are hopeful that the publicised industry rescue package will be
implemented without delay as it is clear that the local clothing and textile
industry is under enormous pressure. The effects of the strengthening
Rand and the current economic climates effect on retail sales, have 
yet to be fully absorbed by the industry. If this industry is lost, it is likely
to have severe social consequences for our country, particularly in
localised economies, such as the Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal,
where there is a concentration of clothing and textile manufacturers. 

Loan from Dr Aaron Searll
The Group has a R98 million loan from Dr Searll, which has been reflected
in the books of the company as being owed to Grawood Investments
(Pty) Ltd, a company controlled by Dr Searll, the Group’s founder. Despite
ongoing discussions with Dr Searll and his representatives, the Group 
has as yet been unable to reach any agreement as to the basis on which
security for the loan may be afforded, nor have any of the terms of such
proposed security been finalised.

Changes to the Board 
Post the rights issue, Dr Searll, resigned as Chairman and then from the
Board. Mr John Copelyn was appointed Chairman and the Board was
reconstituted. Messrs Arthur Jacobson and Russell Upton resigned
from the board and the following new appointments were made:

• Mr Stuart Queen was appointed Chief Financial Officer;
• Mr Anthony Dixon-Seager was appointed CEO-Clothing Division;
• Mr Amon Ntuli was appointed an Executive Director; and
• Messrs Kevin Govender, Yunis Shaik and Mohammed Ahmed

were appointed Non-executive Directors.

The Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr Walter Simeoni, is due to
retire in November 2009 and as part of its succession planning, 
Mr Stuart Queen has been appointed CEO designate. In April 2009, 
the group appointed Mr Gys Wege as the Chief Financial Officer and 
Mr Anthony Dixon-Seager has been appointed Chief Operating Officer
with his role expanding to include responsibility for the Group’s textile
operations in addition to his current responsibilities. 

OUTLOOK
It is recognised that there are no quick fixes to a Group of this size and
that losses are anticipated until the benefits of turnaround come to
fruition. Indeed, given the costs relating to the closure of the Spinning,
Weaving, Finishing and Denim divisions, the Group will almost certainly
record a further loss for the 12 months to 31 March 2010. A significant
amount of work is still required to be done to effect a turnaround and
we remain pragmatic in our views of the industry and the current
economic climate. However, we are pleased with the progress made to
date and remain optimistic that a turnaround will be achieved.

Turnarounds often fail because management does not have sufficient
time to implement all the required strategies due to a lack of liquidity. 
In Seardel’s case, the cash raised on the rights issue as well as the 
work that has been done to better control working capital means 
that the Group is currently well within its facility limits. Furthermore, the
proposed closure of the specific textile divisions is predicted to release
some R250 million of cash to the Group, albeit over an extended
period. There are also still improvements than can be made to the
working capital cycles. Although the cash utilisation will build up
towards the Christmas period, projections show that the Group should
remain well within its facility limits for this period. 

APPRECIATION
To turnaround a Group of this size requires concerted effort over a
sustained period. Each member of staff at Seardel has a role to play
often requiring extended working hours and focused commitment
above and beyond usual requirements. The directors and management
of Seardel would like to thank all the staff of the Group who continue to
work tirelessly to effect the turnaround.

Dividend
The directors have resolved not to declare a dividend for the 9 month
period ended 31 March 2009.

For and on behalf of the directors.

SA Queen
Chief Executive Officer – Designate
Cape Town
17 August 2009

Directors’ Report (continued) FOR THE 9 MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2009



SHAREHOLDER SPREAD IN TERMS OF JSE LIMITED LISTING REQUIREMENTS

2009 2008

Number of % Number of % Number of % Number of %
Shareholders Shares Shareholders Shares

Ordinary shares

Non-public 3 0,3 497 839 288 78,3 8 1,0 18 389 556 79,7

- Directors & Associates 2 0,2 235 477 – 6 0,7 14 802 664 64,1

- Other* 1 0,1 497 603 811 78,3 2 0,3 3 586 892 15,6

Public 994 99,7 138 302 588 21,7 818 99,0 4 695 071 20,3

997 100 636 141 876 100 826 100 23 084 627 100

N Ordinary shares

Non-public 3 0,3 40 204 461 58,3 9 0,9 43 568 648 63,2

- Directors & Associates – – – – 5 0,5 12 392 729 18,0

- Other 3 0,3 40 204 461 58,3 4 0,4 31 175 919 45,2

Public 819 99,7 28 761 550 41,7 933 99,1 25 397 363 36,8

822 100 68 966 011 100 942 100 68 966 011 100

* In 2009 includes indirect holdings held by directors via Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

The following are shareholders, other than directors, who own more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital per class of share:

2009 2008
Ordinary % N Ordinary % Ordinary % N Ordinary %

Allan & Gill Gray Charitable Trust 10 078 879 1,6 – – 1 678 879 7,3 – –
Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd* 497 603 811 78,2 – – – – – –
Liberty Life Association of Africa Ltd 3 395 603 0,5 11 545 966 16,7 3 395 603 14,7 11 545 966 16,7
S.A. Clothing & Textile Workers Union – – 17 659 320 25,6 – – 17 659 320 25,6

*A wholly owned subsidiary of Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited.
Executives and staff members of the group, other than directors, held 19 406 ordinary and 11 210 N ordinary shares at period end. Shareholders and
members of the public are advised that the register of interest of directors, executives, senior management and other shareholders in the shares of the
company is available upon request from the company secretary.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

At the period end the directors (including their family interests) were directly or indirectly interested in the company’s issued shares as follows:

2009 2008
Ordinary N Ordinary Ordinary N Ordinary

Direct 229 800 0,0% – – 30 701 0,1% – –
Indirect 49 720 680 7,8% – – 14 587 366 63,2% 12 107 066 17,6%
There have been no material changes to date of this report.

Details of directors’ beneficial direct and indirect interest in the ordinary and N ordinary shares are as follows: 

2009 2008
Ordinary N Ordinary Ordinary N Ordinary

J Copelyn 49 605 306 – – –
A D Jacobson - as at date of retirement - 27 October 2008 76 600 228 007 74 418 221 460 
A M Ntuli 21 098 – – –
S Queen 25 366 – – –
A Searll - as at date of retirement - 27 October 2008 14 513 649 11 885 606 14 513 649 11 885 606
Y Shaik 68 910 – – –
W Simeoni 229 800 – 30 000 – 

16
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Income Statements FOR PERIOD ENDED

Group Company

Notes 31 March 2009 30 June 2008 31 March 2009 30 June 2008
Rand thousands 9 Months 12 Months 9 Months 12 Months

Revenue 2 883 102    3 867 565   80 276  150 503 

Cost of revenue (2 476 676) (3 145 843) – –

Gross profit 406 426    721 722   80 276   150 503 

Other income 84 056  90 021  – –

Distribution costs (283 808) (341 461) – –

Administrative and other expenses (339 225) (485 158) (83 502) (14 042)

Operating (loss)/profit before impairments and restructuring 

and retrenchment costs 3 (132 551)   (14 876) (3 226)   136 461  

Impairment of assets 4 (82 522)  (108 693) (10 020) (16 628)

Restructuring and retrenchment costs (26 819) (41 886) – –

Operating (loss)/profit before finance costs (241 892)  (165 455) (13 246)   119 833  

Finance income 5 18 859    31 134  10 964   255 

Finance expenses 5 (86 494)  (112 779) (10 579) (299)

Share of losses from joint venture 11 (2 503) (9 181) – –

(Loss)/profit before taxation (312 030)   (256 281)  (12 861)   119 789  

Income tax 6 27 470  72 212 – (19)

(Loss)/profit for the period (284 560)  (184 069) (12 861)   119 770  

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent (279 344) (178 842) (12 861)   119 770  

Minority interest (5 216) (5 227) – –

(Loss)/profit for the period (284 560)  (184 069) (12 861)   119 770  

Basic loss per share – cents 7 (63,02) (198,61) 

Diluted loss per share – cents 7 (63,02) (198,20) 
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Balance Sheets AT PERIOD END

Group Company

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008

Rand thousands 31 March 30 June 31 March 30 June

ASSETS

Non-current assets 1 031 644  1 131 726   876 532   699 745    

Property, plant and equipment 8 969 526    1 036 413    – –

Intangible assets 9 21 490     33 283  – –

Interest in subsidiary companies 10 – – 876 531    681 744   

Interest in joint ventures 11 – 18 000   – 18 000    

Other investments 12 1 442    2 405   1 1  

Long-term receivables 13 35 412    35 189   – – 

Deferred tax asset 6 3 774    6 436   – –

Current assets 1 558 351    1 781 887     8 363  363 

Non-current assets held for sale 14 26 818    10 146   8 000 –

Inventories 15 754 354    848 142    – –

Trade and other receivables 16 769 100    879 069   – –

Current tax asset 129    1 664   – –

Cash and cash equivalents 31 7 950    42 866  363 363 

TOTAL ASSETS 2 589 995    2 913 613     884 895    700 108  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity 1 409 413   1 396 839    881 217    596 239   

Share capital and share premium 17 303 969   6 130  303 969    6 130 

Treasury shares 18 (14 610) (16 250) – –

Reserves 19 1 119 590    1 400 353    577 248    590 109  

Total equity attributable to equity holders 1 408 949    1 390 233    881 217    596 239  

Minority interest 464   6 606   – –

Non-current liabilities 257 099   261 941   – –

Deferred tax liability 6 7 420    43 912    – –

Post employment medical aid benefits 20 80 831    89 182   – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 21 168 397   106 409     – –

Operating lease accruals 22 451   440   – –

Deferred royalty payment 23 – 21 998   – –

Current liabilities 923 483    1 254 833    3 678   103 869   

Current tax liability 3 532   10 066   – –

Post employment medical aid benefits 20 4 346    –   – –

Interest-bearing liabilities 21 40 357    331 471    – 100 255 

Provisions 24 12 057    38 404    – –

Deferred royalty payment 23 45 172    23 249    – –

Trade and other payables 22 558 359    704 500    377 378 

Bank overdrafts 31 259 660    147 143   3 301  3 236 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 180 582    1 516 774    3 678 103 869   

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2 589 995    2 913 613    884 895   700 108   

Net asset value (excluding intangible assets) 1 387 459    1 356 950   

Net asset value per share (excluding intangible assets)

after treasury shares (cents) 197    1 514  
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expense
FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH

Group Company

Notes 31 March 2009 30 June 2008 31 March 2009 30 June 2008
Rand thousands 9 Months 12 Months 9 Months 12 Months

Revaluation of land and buildings 8 (7 206)    34 800     – –

Revaluation of investments 12 (963)     53  – –

Post employment medical benefit – actuarial gain/(loss) 21 8 256    (16 084)  – – 

Taxation on income recognised directly in equity 6 (1 506)   23 242   – – 

Income and expense recognised directly in equity (1 419)    42 011     – – 

(Loss)/profit for the period (284 560)   (184 069)   (12 861)  119 770  

Total recognised income and expense for the period (285 979)  (142 058)   (12 861)   119 770  

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent (280 763) (136 831)  (12 861)  119 770   

Minority interest (5 216) (5 227) – –

Total recognised income and expense for the period (285 979)  (142 058)  (12 861)   119 770   
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Cash Flow Statements FOR PERIOD END

Group Company

Notes 31 March 2009 30 June 2008 31 March 2009 30 June 2008
Rand thousands 9 Months 12 Months 9 Months 12 Months

Net cash flow from operating activities (162 040) 6 023 (2 979)  125 583  

Cash (utilised by)/generated from operations 26 (78 301)  85 807  (3 363)  136 330    

Working capital changes 27 (397)  27 624  (1) 362 

Finance income 5 18 859   31 134  10 964 255 

Finance expenses 5 (86 494) (112 779) (10 579) (299) 

Taxation paid 28 (12 865) (11 104) – (19) 

Dividend paid 29 – (10 821) – (11 046)

Proceeds on sale of treasury shares 109 – – –

Contributions for post employment medical benefits (2 951) (3 838) – – 

Net cash flow from investing activities (56 616) (78 608) (194 670) (225 978) 

Additions of property, plant and equipment (73 811) (103 735) – –

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 30 19 714   27 876    – –

Acquisition of intangible asset – (8 493)  – –

(Increase)/decrease in non-current receivables (223)  20 315  – – 

Investment income 234   165  137 131 

Advances to joint venture (20) (14 736) (20) (14 736)

Business combinations 25 (2 510) – – –

Increase in loans in subsidiary companies – – (194 787) (211 373)

Net cash flow from financing activities 71 223  (142 813) 197 584  100 255  

Increase/(decrease) in non-current borrowings 64 498  (713)  – –

Increase in current borrowings – 109 794   (100 255) 100 255 

Decrease in current borrowings (199 333) (48 837) – –

Reclassification of current loan to bank overdraft (91 781) (77 000)  – –

Reclassification of 13 month notice facility to bank overdraft – (122 849)  – –

Proceeds on share options exercised – 85    – –

Share repurchases – (3 293) – –

Rights issue 297 839 – 297 839 –

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (147 433) (215 398) (65) (140)  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (104 277)  111 121    (2 873) (2 733)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 31 (251 710) (104 277) (2 938) (2 873)
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Notes to the Financial Statements FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Seardel Investment Corporation Ltd (the company) is a company domiciled
in South Africa. The consolidated financial statements of the company for
the nine months ended 31 March 2009 and comparative figures for the
year ended 30 June 2008 comprise the company, its subsidiaries and
interest in jointly controlled entities (together referred to as the group).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on
17 August 2009.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated and company financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), as well as the South African Companies Act.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the
company’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. They
have been prepared on the going concern and historical cost bases under
IFRS, except for those assets and liabilities which are stated at fair value
as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The assumptions and estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation,
uncertainty and critical judgements are described in the following notes:

– Revaluations of property (refer: note 8)
– Utilisation of tax losses (refer: note 6)
– Measurement of post-employment medical benefits (refer: note 20)
– Recognition of intangible asset (refer: note 9)
– Provisions (refer: note 24)
– Contingencies (refer: note 38)
– Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangibles and 

assets held for sale (refer: note 4)
– Assessment of useful lives and residual values of PPE (refer: note 8)
– Impairment allowances for trade receivables and inventory
– Lease classifications – finance v. operating

Except as described in note 39, the accounting policies set out below
have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by
Group entities.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
The group financial statements include the financial statements of the
company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
company. Control exists when the company has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases.
Business combinations achieved in stages

Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries and businesses are
accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date 
of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date,
except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds
the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

In the company financial statements investments in subsidiaries are
carried at cost less impairment.

The Seardel Investment Corporation Limited Employee Incentive Scheme
2001 has a 28th February year end. Its results are adjusted accordingly.

In view of the group’s inability to exercise any power of control over its
investment in its Zimbabwean subsidiary, the directors maintain their
decision not to consolidate its results or financial position, which are not
material to group results. Income is accounted for on a cash dividend
received basis and the investment in the subsidiary has been written down
to a nominal value.
Joint ventures
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. The
consolidated financial statements include the group’s share of the income
and expenses of equity accounted investees, from the date that joint
control commences until the date that joint control ceases. When the
group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted
investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term
loans) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the group has an obligation or has made
payments on behalf of the investee.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income 
and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising
from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against
the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Goodwill and negative goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase
method. Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of
subsidiaries and equity accounted joint ventures, and is the difference
between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is no longer
amortised but is tested annually for impairment (see accounting policy
on impairment below).

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the
income statement.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Owned assets
Land is not depreciated while buildings are depreciated on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful lives. Land and buildings are revalued to
approximate fair value.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefit embodied within the part will flow to the group and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is comprised of major
components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for
as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is
provided on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an
expense is incurred.

Estimates of useful lives, residual values and methods of depreciation
are reviewed annually. Any changes are accounted for prospectively as a
change in accounting estimate.

If the expected residual value of an asset is equal to or greater than its
carrying value, depreciation on that asset is ceased. Depreciation is resumed
when the expected residual value falls below the asset’s carrying value.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities)
that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than
through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before
classification as held for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal
group) are remeasured in accordance with the group’s accounting
policies. Thereafter generally the assets (or disposal group) are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost
to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to
goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis,
except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets and employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured
in accordance with the group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses
on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or 
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.
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IMPAIRMENT 
The carrying amount of the group’s assets, other than inventories 
and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible
assets, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset
or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash generating
unit is the smallest identifiable asset or group of assets that generates cash
flows that are largely independent from other assets or groups of assets.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
asset in the unit on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of the group’s investment in held-to-maturity
securities and receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not
generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or
receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For available-
for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. For available-for-sale assets
that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale asset has been
recognised directly in equity and there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, the cumulative loss that has been recognised directly in equity
is charged to the income statement. The amount of the cumulative loss
that is recognised in the income statement is the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including
available-for-sale financial assets), gains on the disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, and gains on hedging instruments that are
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in
profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings,
unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends on preference shares
classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial
assets, and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or
loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective
interest method.

INCOME TAX
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided
for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future and the parent is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences. The amount of deferred
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the associated
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Secondary tax on companies (STC) paid on net dividends paid is
recognised as a tax charge in the year it is incurred. STC is provided for at
a rate of 10% on the amount by which dividends declared by the company
exceed dividends received. STC is recognised as part of the current tax
charge in the income statement when the related dividend is declared.
Deferred tax on unutilised STC credits is recognised to the extent that STC
payable on future dividend payments is likely to be available for set-off.

INVENTORY
Raw materials and consumables, work-in-progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. Cost is determined
on the first-in, first-out principle and includes direct material costs together
with appropriate allocations of labour and overheads based on normal
operating capacity.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will occur, and where a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of
discounting is material, provisions are discounted. The discount rate used
is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect
the current or best estimate. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Measurement
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, which includes
transaction costs, except for instruments subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as
follows:
Investments
Listed investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are
carried at market value, which is calculated by reference to stock
exchange quoted selling prices at the close of business at the balance
sheet date. Unlisted investments are shown at fair value, unless 
their fair value cannot be reliably determined, in which case they are
shown at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity in a revaluation reserve except for
impairment losses, which are expensed in the income statement.

Investments that meet the criteria for classification as held-to maturity
financial assets are carried at amortised cost.
Trade, long term and other receivables
Trade and other receivables originated by the group are stated at amortised
cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment).
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call deposits and
are measured at fair value.
Finance income and cost
Finance income and costs comprise interest payable on borrowings,
interest received on funds invested, dividend income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues,
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the
income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is
established. The interest expense component of finance lease payments
is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate
method.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost,
comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisations.
Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are measured at fair value.
Hedging Instruments
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction
costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are
accounted for as described below.

Gains and losses from measuring the hedging instruments relating to a
fair value hedge at fair value are recognised immediately in net profit or loss.
Gains and losses from remeasuring the hedging instruments relating to a
cash flow hedge to fair value are initially recognised directly in equity. If the
hedged firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition
of an asset or a liability, the cumulative amount recognised in equity up to
the transaction date is adjusted against the initial measurement of the asset
or liability. Where the hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated
but the hedged transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in
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accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the
hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss is recognised in the income statement immediately.
Offset
In the instance that the group has a legal right to apply an amount 
due from a third party against the amount due to a creditor, provided 
that there is an agreement among the three parties that clearly establishes
the contractual right to set-off, and the group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, the related
amounts are offset and the net amounts reported in the balance sheet.

REVENUE
Group revenue comprises, in the main, net invoiced sales excluding value
added tax, operating and finance lease income and is stated net of
transactions with group companies. Company revenue comprises
dividends received.
Revenue recognition
Turnover from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of
consideration is probable, the associated costs can be measured reliably
and there is no continuing managerial involvement.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
amounts outstanding and the interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Dividend income from Harven Manufacturing Company (Pvt) Limited is
accounted for only when received, due to the difficulties in remitting
dividends from Zimbabwe.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to shareholders
and is calculated on the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the financial year.

Headline earnings per share is based on profit attributable to shareholders,
excluding any nontrading, capital items and the tax effect thereon, in
accordance with SAICA circular 8/2007 and is calculated as above.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into South African Rand
at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured
at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency of the group entities
at the exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined. Translation
gains and losses, whether realised or unrealised, are taken to income.

LEASES
Finance leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the underlying asset to the group are classified as finance leases. Assets
acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of fair 
value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception
of the lease, and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset.
The capital element of future obligations under the leases is included as a
liability in the balance sheet. Lease payments are allocated using the
effective interest rate method to determine the lease finance cost, which is
charged against income over the lease period, and the capital repayment,
which reduces the liability to the lessor.
The Group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment outstanding
in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The group enters into finance leasing arrangements for its copiers, faxes
and point-of-sale equipment. All leases are denominated in South African
Rands. The average term of finance leases entered into is 4-5 years.

The accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimum lease payments
amounts to R133,871.
Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the
period in which the employee renders the related service. The liabilities for
employee entitlements to wages, salaries, annual and sick leave represent
the amount that the group has a present obligation to pay as a result of
employees’ services provided to the balance sheet date. The liabilities
have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage
and salary rates.
Retirement fund
The group contributes to several defined contribution plans. Contributions
to defined contribution funds are charged against income as incurred.
Medical aid
Where the group has an obligation to provide post retirement medical aid
benefits to employees, the group recognises the costs of these benefits in
the year in which the employees render the service.

Actuarial gains or losses in respect of the defined benefit medical plan
are recognised directly in equity in the year which they arise.

Past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis
over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent
that the benefits are already vested, past service costs are recognised
immediately.
Equity compensation benefits - granted before 7 November 2002
The group granted share options to certain employees under an employee
share plan. Other than costs incurred in administering the schemes, which
are expensed as incurred, the scheme does not result in an expense to
the group.

DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividends and related STC charges are accounted for in the period in
which the dividends are declared.

TREASURY SHARES
Shares in the company held by group entities are classified as treasury
shares. These shares are treated as a deduction from the weighted
average number of shares and the cost price of the shares is deducted
from equity in the statement of changes in equity. Dividends received on
treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The group’s main activities are the manufacture of textiles and men’s,
women’s and children’s apparel. Its other activities are comprised of 
the distribution of toys and consumer electronics. It also has travel 
and property investment interests related to its manufacturing divisions. On
a primary basis the group is organised into five major operating divisions:

• Textiles;
• Apparel and household textiles;
• Office automation and consumer electronics, comprising the

distribution of office automation products and consumer electronic
products;

• Toys, comprising the distribution of toys;
• Other, comprising the results of Oceanair Travel, the Seardel Group

head office and the effects of consolidation entries.
These segments are the same as those used in the management accounts
which are reviewed by the group’s management.

Geographical markets are reported on a secondary basis. Segment
results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment,
and head office expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a
segment. Segment assets comprise those operating assets that are
directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on
a reasonable basis. Segment liabilities comprise those operating liabilities
that are directly attributable to the segment on a reasonable basis.
Segment assets and liabilities do not include income tax items. Capital
expenditure represents the total costs incurred during the year to acquire
segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period,
i.e. property, plant and equipment.

INTANGIBLES
Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the group, which have finite 
useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All
other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a production units basis from
the date that they are available for use.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised.

Notes to the Financial Statements FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH
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Group 
Rand thousands 2009

2. SEGMENTAL REPORT Office
Apparel and automation
household & consumer

BUSINESS SEGMENTS Textiles textiles electronics Toys Other Total 
Segment revenue
External sales 1 247 775 1 304 486 149 349 223 900 – 2 925 510   
Inter-segment sales (these transactions are at arms length) (42 408) – – – – (42 408)

1 205 367 1 304 486 149 349 223 900 – 2 883 102   

Segment results
Operating (loss)/profit before finance costs (136 628) (102 127) 7 124 39 735 (49 996) (241 892) 

Segment assets 1 428 022 719 573 129 346 122 173 179 157 2 578 271  
Property, plant and equipment 715 880 67 173 4 052 4 429 177 992 969 526    
Intangible assets – – – – 21 490 21 490    
Investments – – – – 1 442 1 442    
Long-term receivables – 9 33 194 2 209 – 35 412    
Inventories 362 605 323 220 43 118 48 567 (23 156) 754 354    
Trade and other receivables 338 274 329 171 48 982 66 968 (14 166) 769 229   
Assets held for disposal 11 263 – – – 15 555 26 818    

Segment liabilities 342 542 229 287 28 133 39 134 16 948 656 044    
Post employment medical aid benefits 85 177 – – – – 85 177   
Trade and other payables – including provisions 257 365 229 287 28 133 39 134 16 948 570 867   
Depreciation 26 698 14 768 834 605 1 313 44 218   
Net impairments 65 487 (243) – – 17 278 82 522    
Capital expenditure 61 783 9 553 288 2 061 126 73 811

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS BASED
ON LOCATION OF CUSTOMERS
Revenue from external customers
South Africa 1 149 773 1 259 457 149 349 219 268 – 2 777 847  
Direct exports 55 594 45 029 – 4 632 – 105 255   

1 205 367 1 304 486 149 349 223 900 – 2 883 102   

Group
2008

BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Segment revenue
External sales 1 774 863 1 692 752 203 773 266 579 – 3 937 967    
Inter-segment sales (these transactions are at arms length) (71 724) 1 322 – – – (70 402)   

1 703 139 1 694 074 203 773 266 579 – 3 867 565   

Segment results
Operating (loss)/profit before finance costs (52 865) (105 347) 11 042 38 717 (57 002) (165 455)   

Segment assets 1 572 309 762 824 152 527 130 629 246 022 2 864 311    
Property, plant and equipment 755 050 77 599 4 878 3 542 195 344 1 036 413   
Intangible assets – – – – 33 283 33 283    
Interest in equity accounted joint venture – – – – 18 000 18 000    
Investments – – – – 2 405 2 405    
Long-term receivables – 39 35 150 – – 35 189    
Inventories 397 971 370 006 61 270 42 051 (23 156) 848 142    
Trade and other receivables 409 142 315 180 51 229 85 036 20 146 880 733   
Assets held for disposal 10 146 – – – – 10 146    

Segment liabilities 444 927 261 862 43 248 51 187 53 300 854 524   
Post employment medical aid benefits 89 182 – – – –  89 182    
Non interest-bearing liabilities – – – – 21 998 21 998    
Trade and other payables – including provisions 355 745 261 862 43 248 51 187    31 302 743 344    
Depreciation 47 548 21 600 1 448 820 2 297 73 713  
Impairments 24 813 62 895 144 – 20 841 108 693   
Capital expenditure 78 557 22 059 1 025 1 758 336 103 735 

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS BASED
ON LOCATION OF CUSTOMERS
Revenue from external customers
South Africa 1 630 038 1 708 307 203 773 263 574 (85 739) 3 719 953    
Direct exports 73 101 71 506 – 3 005 – 147 612    

1 703 139 1 779 813 203 773 266 579 (85 739) 3 867 565    

Change in basis of segmentation
As part of the group restructuring programme, the segment previously referred to as Industrial Products has been incorporated under Textiles.
The results of Oceanair Travel, the Seardel Group head office and the effects of consolidation entries, previously included in Apparel and Household Textiles,
is now separately disclosed.
The comparative results have been restated.
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Group Company

Rand thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

3. OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE 
IMPAIRMENTS AND RESTRUCTURING 
AND RETRENCHMENT COSTS
The following items have been taken into account in 
determining operating (loss)/profit before impairments
and restructuring and retrenchment costs

Income
Dividends – unlisted investments 133 121 133  121
Dividends – listed investments 101 44 4 10
Dividends – subsidiary companies – – 80 138  95 850   
Export incentives 14 985    11 121  – –
Gain on disposal of investments – – – 600
Finance lease income 7 933  10 796  – –
Foreign exchange gains – realised 17 392   31 155  – –
Foreign exchange gains – unrealised 4 718   3 626 – –
Negative goodwill 926  _ – –
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 733  988   – –

Expenditure
Audit fees – audit 4 237   4 665   – –
Audit fees – other 1 319     1 695    – –
Bad debts 2 618     5 651   – –
Bank charges 5 290     6 481   1 5
Depreciation – buildings 2 613   1 646 – –

– plant and machinery 30 989   56 473 – –
– equipment and fittings 7 322   10 037 – –
– motor vehicles 1 584   2 802 – –

Total owned assets 42 508   70 958 – –
Total leased assets 1 710   2 755 – –
Total depreciation 44 218   73 713 – –
Employment costs* 768 517   1 098 520 – –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 616   1 844 – –
Loss on disposal of treasury shares 1 531 – – –
Foreign exchange losses – realised 23 574   23 577 – –
Foreign exchange losses – unrealised 20 540   10 136  – –
Operating lease charges – property 30 757   37 950 – –

– equipment and vehicles 5 985   7 784 – –
Technical and consulting fees 9 535   5 494 – –
Write-down of inventory to net realisable value 42 116    14 069 – –

*Includes contributions of R56,2 million (2008: R83,6m) to medical, pension, provident and benefit funds.
These contributions include R7,2 million in respect of post-employment medical benefits relating to a defined benefit obligation.

4. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
During the period the following impairment losses were recognised as a result of impairments of the following categories of assets*:

Property, plant and equipment 64 890          87 852 – –
Assets held for sale – property, plant and equipment 115          – – –
Intangible assets 10 000           16 813 – –
Assets held for sale – interest in joint venture 7 517  4 028 10 020 16 628 

82 522   108 693  10 020 16 628 
* Reversals of impairments have been set off against impairments

5. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Recognised in profit and loss
Finance income
Interest received from related parties 535             2 416  10 515 –
Interest received from financial institutions 14 946           27 421  449 –
Other interest received 3 378   1 297  – 255 

18 859   31 134  10 964 255 

Finance expenses
Interest paid on finance leases and instalment 
sale agreements 783       1 456  – –
Interest paid to financial institutions 63 303           93 919  64 –
Interest paid to related parties 15 264            15 875  10 515 –
Other interest paid 7 144   1 529  – 299 

86 494    112 779  10 579 299 
The finance expenses relate to financial liabilities which are categorised as being measured at amortised cost.
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Group Company

Rand thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

6. TAXATION & DEFERRED TAXATION
Income Tax
South African normal taxation

– current (8 520) (11 636) – –
– prior period 654   2 789  – –

Secondary taxation on companies – (1 093) – (19)
Deferred taxation 35 336   82 152  – –

27 470  72 212 – (19)
Reconciliation between actual and normal % % – –
taxation rates
Taxation as a percentage of loss before taxation 8,8  28,2  – –
Rate change – (1,1) – –
Prior year (0,2) (1,4) – –
Specific tax deductible and non-deductible items 
and tax inclusions (1,4)   2,4 202,5 –
Exempt income (0,1) (2,0)  (174,8) 28,0
Capital gains tax on asset disposals 0,1  –  – –
Losses from joint venture 0,2   1,0  – –
Restricted recognition of tax loss 20,8   2,1  0,3 –
Other (0,2) (1,2) – –
Normal taxation rate 28,0  28,0 28,0 28,0 

DEFERRED TAXATION
Balance at beginning of period (37 476) (142 870)
– Asset 6 436   10 530  
– Liability (43 912) (153 400)

Current movements recognised in the income statement 35 336   82 152  
– Rate changes – 2 814 
– Capital allowances 46 324   39 336  
– Provision for post employment medical benefits 1 190   755  
– Tax losses (derecognised)/recognised during

the period (12 259)  24 336  
– Impairment of intangible asset 2 800   5 804 
– Shares and investments 878  2 434 
– STC – 1 114  
– Other (12) 12 
– Working capital differences (3 585)  5 547   

Current movements recognised in equity (1 506) 23 242 
– Rate changes – 2 113 
– Provision for post employment medical benefits (2 312) 4 504 
– Shares and investments 135  –
– Revaluation reserve 671  16 625 

Balance at end of period (3 646) (37 476)
– Asset 3 774   6 436  
– Liability (7 420) (43 912)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable 
to the following:
– Provision for post employment medical benefits 23 850   24 971  
– Working capital allowances 19 422   23 045  
– Shares and investments 1 819   806 
– Trademarks – 12 
– Tax losses 75 319  87 578  
– Capital allowances (89 031)  (135 354)
– Impairment of intangible asset 7 508  4 708 
– Revaluation reserve (42 533) (43 242)
Net deferred tax liability at end of period (3 646) (37 476) 

The estimated tax losses are in respect of Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd, Brits Automotive Systems (Pty) Ltd, Val Hau et Cie (Pty) Ltd, Seartec
Trading (Pty) Ltd and Frame Industrials (Pty) Ltd. Tax losses have been recognised in Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd and Brits Automotive
Systems (Pty) Ltd to the extent of the taxable temporary differences existing in those entities. The directors have considered the future profitability
of the other three operating entities and on the basis that they are projected to produce taxable income in the foreseeable future, these deferred
tax assets are considered fully recoverable.

Unrecognised tax losses exist in the following entities:
Brits Automotive Systems (Pty) Ltd 11 360
Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd 80 457
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7. LOSS PER SHARE

Gross Net Number of shares Per share 

R000’s R000’s 000’s cents

2009

Net number of shares in issue 702 946   

Number of shares in issue – 31 March 2009 705 108    

Number of treasury shares in issue – 31 March 2009 (2 162)

Weighted average number of shares 443 253    

Diluted weighted average number of shares 443 253    

Weighted average number of shares 443 253    

Share options granted, not yet exercised –   

Basic loss 

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (279 344) 443 253 (63,02)  

Diluted loss 

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (279 344) 443 253 (63,02)  

Headline loss

Reconciliation between loss and headline loss

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (279 344)

Impairment of assets 82 522 82 522   

Insurance claim (55) (55)  

Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment (7 733) (7 733)  

Negative goodwill (926) (926)  

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 616 3 616    

Headline loss (201 920) 443 253 (45,55)  

Diluted headline loss (201 920) 443 253 (45,55) 

Dividends –  

2008

Net number of shares in issue 89 620     

Number of shares in issue - 30 June 2008 92 050 

Number of treasury shares in issue - 30 June 2008 (2 430)

Weighted average number of shares 90 048   

Diluted weighted average number of shares 90 232     

Weighted average number of shares 90 048     

Share options granted, not yet exercised 184    

Basic loss 

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (178 842) 90 048 (198,61)  

Diluted loss

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (178 842) 90 232 (198,20)  

Headline loss

Reconciliation between loss and headline loss

Loss attributable to equity holders of the parent (178 842)   

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 108 693 78 259  

Surplus on disposal of portion of division (988) (711)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 844 1 328  

Headline loss (99 966) 90 048 (111,01)  

Diluted headline loss (99 966) 90 232 (110,79)  

Dividends –
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Group
Rand thousands

Land and Plant and Equipment Motor Total
buildings machinery and fittings vehicles

At valuation At cost At cost At cost
8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2009

Cost/valuation at 31 March 2009 528 175 1 333 474 179 340 30 744 2 071 733    
Opening balance 548 849 1 343 746 176 372 36 360 2 105 327    
Additions 20 63 920 9 351 520 73 811    
Revaluations (9 819) – – – (9 819)   
Disposals and assets reclassified as held-for-sale (10 875) (74 192) (6 383) (6 136) ( 97 586)
Accumulated depreciation and impairments
at 31 March 2009 – 928 971 151 740 21 496 1 102 207     
Opening balance – 895 218 149 996 23 700 1 068 914     
Current period depreciation 2 613 32 059 7 626 1 920 44 218     
Revaluations (2 613) – – – (2 613) 
Impairment – 64 749 384 – 65 133    
Reversal of impairment – – – (243) (243)   
Disposals and assets reclassified as held-for-sale – (63 055) (6 266) (3 881) (73 202)
Carrying value at 31 March 2009 528 175 404 503 27 600 9 248 969 526     
Rate of (straight line) depreciation 0 - 2% 4 - 7% 10 - 20% 20%
Residual values  40 - 65% 0% 0% 20%

2008
Cost/valuation at 30 June 2008 548 849 1 343 746 176 372 36 360 2 105 327   
Opening balance 515 236 1 317 286 166 412 36 015 2 034 949   
Additions 503 85 159 13 271 4 802 103 735   
Revaluations 33 154  – – – 33 154   
Disposals and assets reclassified as held-for-sale (44) (58 699) (3 311) (4 457) (66 511)
Accumulated depreciation and impairments at 30 June 2008 – 895 218 149 996 23 700 1 068 914    
Opening balance – 815 178 126 835 21 358 963 371    
Current year depreciation 1 646 57 966 10 771 3 330 73 713    
Revaluations (1 646) – – – (1 646) 
Impairment – 71 045 14 666 2 141 87 852   
Disposals and assets reclassified as held-for-sale – (48 971) (2 276) (3 129) (54 376)
Carrying value at 30 June 2008 548 849 448 528 26 376 12 660 1 036 413     
The insured replacement value of property, plant and equipment amounts to R5.4 billion (2008: R5,4 billion). Land and buildings were revalued
effective 31 March 2009 to fair value by independent valuers, David Newham Property Management Co. (Pty) Ltd. In arriving at the fair value of the
land and buildings, consideration was given to their rental producing capacity taking into account their location, structure and the rental producing
capacity of similar buildings in similar locations. This valuation exercise has, of necessity, altered certain estimates regarding the properties when
compared to the valuation exercise undertaken as at 30 June 2008.
Had the properties not been fair valued, land and buildings would have been reflected as follows: 2009 2008
Cost 261 672   275 141  
Accumulated depreciation 2 017 2 017  
Net book value 259 655   273 124  
Capitalised leased assets included in the above are: Plant and  Equipment Motor

machinery and fittings vehicles Total
2009

Cost 29 532 11 967 2 635 44 134    
Accumulated depreciation 9 560 11 937 2 185 23 682   
Net book value at 31 March 2009 19 972 30 450 20 452    

2008
Cost 29 472 12 038 3 026 44 536   
Accumulated depreciation 8 467 11 692 2 454 22 613   
Net book value at 30 June 2008 21 005 346 572 21 923   
Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.
Impairments
Due to the downturn in the economy the group performed impairment tests on all classes of plant and equipment by calculating the net realisable
value using the discounted cash flow method. The tests indicated that these assets were potentially impaired. Based on valuations performed by
independent valuators, the group impaired these items of plant and machinery to net realisable value less costs to sell.
Reversal of impairment
An impairment previously recognised against a motor vehicle has been reversed on the realisation of the vehicle.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
During the prior year the group concluded an agreement to manufacture and distribute certain clothing products for the FIFA 2010 World Cup. In
terms of this agreement a guaranteed minimum royalty is payable to the licensor. This royalty has been recognised as an intangible asset. Based
on current projections of sales and related production, this asset has been impaired as shown below.
The 2008 figures include an import quota which was fully amortised during the prior period. Group

2009 2008
Carrying value at end of period 21 490  33 283     
Cost at beginning of period 54 133  4 037     
Acquired during the period – 50 096     
Cost at end of period 54 133   54 133    
Accumulated impairments and amortisation at beginning of period 20 850 122
Impairment 10 000  16 813     
Amortisation for the period 1 793  3 915     
Accumulated impairments and amortisation at end of period 32 643  20 850     
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a production units basis from the date that the intangible asset is available for use.
Amortisation of the intangible asset is charged to the cost of revenue line in the income statement.    
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Rand thousands
10. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES Company

Shares at cost, less impairment 449 371     449 367     
Loans from subsidiary companies (138 672)   (138 672)   
Loans to subsidiary companies 565 832  371 049  

876 531    681 744 
In the main these loans are unsubordinated, interest free and there are no fixed terms of repayment.
Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.

11. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES Group Company
Loan to joint venture 2009 2008 2009   2008   
Opening balance 34 628   19 892  34 628     19 892     
Advances during the period 20  14 736  20 14 736  
Closing balance 34 648   34 628  34 648  34 628   
The loan is subordinated, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
Share of losses in joint venture
Opening balance (12 600) (3 419) – –
Share of losses for the period (2 503) (9 181) – –    
Closing balance (15 103) (12 600) – –    
Impairments
Opening balance (4 028) – (16 628) –
Recognised during the period (7 517) (4 028) (10 020) (16 628)
Closing balance (11 545)  (4 028) (26 648)   (16 628)   
Reclassification
Reclassified as held for sale (8 000) – (8 000) –
Total investment in joint venture – 18 000  – 18 000    

Basis of impairment
While equity accounted, the group recognised its share of the joint venture’s losses. A decision was taken by management to dispose of the
group’s share of the joint venture at which date the group ceased to equity account for the joint venture and reclassified the investment as one
being held for sale. At this date the expected proceeds were less than the carrying value of the investment and an impairment of the difference
was recognised.
Put and call options
The Kenaf Foundation Trust (a trust created for the benefit and empowerment of the communities that participate in the growers association of
Kenaf growers) is entitled until 30 June 2012 to require IDC to sell as many shares in the company as may represent 8% of the company. If the
Kenaf Foundation Trust fails to call the shares then at any time from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2014, Seardel shall be entitled to require IDC to sell
to it as many shares in the company as may represent 8% of the company (“the call option”). At any time after the expiration of the call option
(30 June 2014) IDC will be entitled to require Seardel to purchase 50% of IDC’s Shares and Shareholders’ Loan (“IDC Equity”) in the company
(“the put option”). The above is subject to IDCs right to sell and transfer as many shares in the issued share capital of the company as constitutes
16% of the company, to a BEE partner approved by the shareholders.
The Group has reclassified its interest in this investment to that of a non-current asset held for sale. With an imminent sale anticipated, the put
and call options will have no impact on the Group.
Future funding
In the event that the joint venture requires further capital by way of shareholders’ contributions and any shareholder indicates its unwillingness to
contribute its stated proportion of any capital requirements, then such shareholder’s equity may be reduced to a percentage which is equal to the
ratio of that shareholder’s shareholding at par value in the issued ordinary share capital of the company plus the amount of that shareholder’s
claims in the company to the total of the ordinary share capital of the company at par value plus all the shareholders’ claims in the company plus
the amount of such further capital requirements.
Subordination of loan
The company and its joint venture partner have both subordinated their loans in favour of the joint venture’s general body of creditors in terms of
the shareholders agreement.
EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEE
The Group’s share of losses in its equity accounted investee, Sustainable Fibre Solutions (Pty) Ltd, for the period was R2 503 thousand
(2008: R9 181 thousand).  Sustainable Fibre Solutions (Pty) Ltd has a year end of 31 December 2008.
Summary financial information for the equity accounted investee, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group:

30 June 2008 
Voting rights 50% 
Ownership 33%
Current assets 20 976 
Non-current assets 85 056    
Total assets R106 032  
Current liabilities 1 791  
Non-current liabilities 139 175  
Total liabilities R140 966  
Revenues 514     
Expenses (28 336)
Loss (R27 822)

Group Company
2009 2008 2009   2008   

12. OTHER INVESTMENTS 
Stanlib Wealthbuilder – (listed) 15 515 units (2008:15 515) 1 441    2 404     – –
Business Partners Limited (unlisted) 1 1 1 1

1 442  2 405  1 1
Investments are classified as available for sale and are reconciled as follows:
Opening balance 2 405  2 352  1 1
Revaluations (963) 53  – –
Closing balance 1 442  2 405  1 1
In light of an illiquid market, the shares held in Business Partners Limited have not been revalued.
No formal valuation of these shares has been carried out given the small holding.
Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.
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Rand thousands Group

13. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES 2009 2008

Net investment in finance leases** 33 195   35 150   
Other receivables 2 217   39   

35 412   35 189   

Net investment in finance leases is reconciled with the gross investment Gross Unearned Net
in leases as follows: investment in finance investment

leases income in leases
2009

Lease payments receivable
– Not later than 1 year 27 777 7 471 *20 306   
– Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 41 365 8 170 33 195   

69 142 15 641 53 501   

Lease payments receivable 2008
– Not later than 1 year 29 395 7 373 *22 022    
– Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 43 135 7 985 35 150    

72 530 15 358 57 172    
*Included in trade and other receivables
** Ceded to Standard Bank as security in respect of a loan of R30,3 million (see note 21)
Interest is charged at rates varying between 13% and 23%.
The group enters into finance leasing arrangements for its copiers, faxes and point-of-sale equipment. All leases are denominated in South African
Rands. The average term of finance leases entered into is 4-5 years.
The accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimum lease payments amounts to R 133,871.

14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Following the commitment of management to dispose of certain properties as well as plant and machinery, and the interest in joint venture
referred to in note 11, these assets have been reflected as non-current assets held for sale.

The categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows: Group Company
Land and buildings 7 555  3 377 – –    
Plant and machinery 11 263  6 769 – –    
Investments 8 000  – 8 000  – 

26 818  10 146 8 000   –    
During the period plant and machinery classified as held for sale was impaired by R115 thousand.

The investment held for sale historically formed part of a diversified investment strategy implemented by the group. During the period under
review, the Board agreed to commence negotiations to dispose of this non-core investment.

The segmental classification of the non-current assets held for sale is as follows: 2009
Textiles  Other Total

Land and buildings – 7 555 7 555
Plant and machinery 11 263  – 11 263
Investments – 8 000 8 000

11 263 15 555 26 818

2008     
Textiles Other Total    

Land and buildings 3 377 –    3 377    
Plant and machinery 6 769 –   6 769    

10 146 –   10 146    

Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.
The Group holds specific consent from its lenders to dispose of the above mentioned land and buildings

Group

15. INVENTORIES 2009 2008
Raw materials and consumables 296 072   358 399   
Work-in-progress 169 201   188 000   
Finished goods 289 081   301 743   

754 354   848 142   
Inventories stated at net realisable value 164 056   101 075  
Write-down of inventory to net realisable value during the period 42 116   14 069 
Reversals of previous write-down of inventory to net realisable value during the period* – (152)
*This inventory was realised during the period and the earlier write-down reversed. 

Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders. 
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 703 735   789 853  
Other receivables 56 686   81 297  
Fair value of outstanding foreign exchange contracts 1 194   2 964  
Prepayments 7 485   4 955  

769 100   879 069    
Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.

Rand thousands Group and Company

2009 2008  

17. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
(a) Authorised

700 000 000 (2008: 35 000 000) ordinary shares of 25 cents each 175 000  8 750
Each ordinary share has the right to 100 votes at general meetings

200 000 000 (2008: 200 000 000) N ordinary shares of 0.25 cents each 500 500
Each N ordinary share has the right to 1 vote at general meetings

(b) Issued
636 141 876 (2008: 23 084 627) ordinary shares of 25 cents each 159 035  5 771 
Balance at beginning of period 23 084 627 (2008: 23 084 627) 5 771 5 771  
Issued during the period 613 057 249 (2008: nil) 153 264 –
68 966 011 (2008: 68 966 011) N ordinary shares of 0.25 cents each 172 172  
Balance at beginning of period 68 966 011 (2008: 68 966 011) 172 172

159 207  5 943 
Share premium
Balance at beginning of period 187 187
Shares issued 153 264  –
Associated expenses (8 689) – 
Balance at end of period 144 762 187 

303 969  6 130
The unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

Changes to authorised and issued share capital
The authorised share capital of the company was increased from 35,000,000 ordinary shares to 700,000,000 shares of 25 cents each to enable
the company to undertake a rights offer to shareholders in terms of which each shareholder was given the right to subscribe for 6.66 ordinary
shares for each ordinary share or N ordinary share held. Pursuant to the rights offer, 613 057 249 new ordinary shares were issued.

Share incentive scheme
On 10 December 2001, the Seardel Investment Corporation Limited Employee Incentive Scheme 2001 granted options on 6 296 000 Seardel
N ordinary shares at R1,80 per share to the holders of share options in Frame Textile Corporation Limited, in consideration for those holders
agreeing to the cancellation of options that they held in Frame Textile Corporation Limited. Of the total number, 80 800 options have been forfeited
in terms of the rules. The remaining options amounting to 6 215 200 shares were exercised in terms of the rules of the scheme. During the
current financial period the holders of the remaining options on 268 400 shares waived their right to take delivery of the shares which were
subsequently sold on the open market. The trustees resolved to terminate the trust on 28 October 2008.

Balance, options granted not yet exercised, at beginning of period 268  282  
Options waived during the period (268) – 
Options delivered – (14)
Balance, options granted not yet exercised, at end of period – 268 

Group

18. TREASURY SHARES Number of shares 
Seardel Investment Corporation Limited shares are held by: R000’s 000’s

2009 2008 2009 2008
a) Seardel Investment Corporation Limited Employee Incentive Scheme 2001
N Ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of period 1 640  1 725 268 282 
Share options waived and shares realised (1 640) (85) (268) (14)
Balance at end of period – 1 640  – 268  

b) Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Limited
Ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of period 1 384  1 287  191  172
Share repurchases – 97 – 19   
Balance at end of period 1 384 1 384   191 191 
N ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of period 13 226  10 030  1 971  1 310
Share repurchases – 3 196  – 661 
Balance at end of period 13 226 13 226  1 971 1 971   
Total at end of period 14 610 14 610   2 162 2 162   
Grand total at end of period 14 610 16 250   2 162 2 430   
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19. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share Share Treasury Other Retained Minority
Capital Premium Shares Reserves Income Total Interest Total

Balance 30 June 2007 5 943 187 (13 042) 187 795 1 360 210 1 541 093 11 833 1 552 926     
Total recognised income and expense 53 591 (190 422) (136 831) (5 227) (142 058) 
Share repurchases (3 293) (3 293) (3 293)
Share options exercised 85 85 85  
Dividend (10 821) (10 821) (10 821)
Balance 30 June 2008 5 943 187 (16 250) 241 386 1 158 967 1 390 233 6 606 1 396 839     
Total recognised income and expense (7 363) (273 400) (280 763) (5 216) (285 979)  
Acquisition of minority interest – (926) (926)   
Share issue 153 264 144 575 297 839 297 839    
Share disposals 1 640 1 640 1 640 
Balance 31 March 2009 159 207 144 762 (14 610) 234 023 885 567 1 408 949 464 1 409 413   

Company

Balance 30 June 2007 5 943 187 – 24 744 456 641 487 515 – 487 515  
Total recognised income and expense 119 770 119 770 119 770 
Dividend (11 046) (11 046) (11 046)
Balance 30 June 2008 5 943 187 – 24 744 565 365 596 239 – 596 239   
Total recognised income and expense 21 000 21 000 21 000  
Share issue 153 264 144 575 297 839 297 839
Balance 31 March 2009 159 207 144 762 – 24 744 586 365 915 078 – 915 078   

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Composition of other reserves
Revaluation of investments 577   1 405   – –   
Capital redemption reserve fund 440  440 440 440    
Surplus on disposal of subsidiary and associated companies 7 923  7 923 24 304    24 304    
Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings 225 083   231 618  –   –

234 023    241 386  24 744    24 744  
In terms of the securitisation agreement no dividends may be declared until such time as the debts of the company have been repaid.
Surpluses arising on the disposal of subsidiary and associated companies are classified as other reserves until such time as management
determines that they be included in distributable reserves at which time they are reclassified as retained income.
Reserves are created to prevent the distribution of unrealised profits arising through the revaluation of certain assets. Upon realisation, reserves
are maintained at management’s discretion.

Group
20. POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS

General description of plan
Employees of Frame participate in the National Independent Medical Aid Society (NIMAS).
The post-employment subsidy policy is summarised below:
• Medical scheme members who joined the company before 1 July 1996 are eligible for a 50% retirement subsidy of their total medical scheme

contributions.
• Dependants of eligible continuation members receive a subsidy before and after the death of the principal member.
• If a member eligible for a retirement subsidy dies in service, their dependants are eligible for a subsidy of medical scheme contributions as

described above.
2009 2008

Amounts recognised in the income statement:
Current service cost 1 151   1 400   
Interest on the obligation 6 051  5 136  
Total included in staff costs 7 202   6 536   
Reconciliations in the net liability recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
Liability at beginning of period 89 182   70 400  
Net expense in the income statement 7 202   6 536  
Contributions (2 951) (3 838)
Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised directly in equity (8 256) 16 084 
Liability in balance sheet 85 177   89 182  

Represented by
Liability due within 12 months 4 346  – 
Liability due after 12 months 80 831  89 182 

85 177 89 182  

Present value of unfunded obligations 85 177  89 182  
Fair value of plan assets – –
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations 85 177 89 182  
No reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the plan assets is provided as there are no plan assets.
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Forecast reconciliation of the plan to 31 March 2010 is as follows:
Liability at 31 March 2009 85 177   
Net expense in the income statement 8 623   
Contributions (4 522)
Forecast liability at 31 March 2010 89 278   

Trend information
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Present value of obligations 63 071 67 754 70 400 89 182  85 177 

2009 2008
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:
Discount rate 9,00% 9,25% 
Medical inflation 7,25% 8,25%

Sensitivity of results
A 1% increase in medical aid inflation would result in:

An increase in the accrued liability of 12 313   14 626 
14,50% 16,40%

An increase in the service and interest cost of 1 396   1 190 
16,20% 18,20%

A 1% decrease in medical aid inflation would result in:
A decrease in the accrued liability of (10 040) (11 772)

(11,80%) (13,20%)
A decrease in the service and interest cost of (1 125) (941)

(13,00%) (14,40%)
A 1% decrease in the discount rate would result in:

An increase in the accrued liability of 12 400 14 647
14,60% 16,40%

A 1% increase in the discount rate would result in:
A decrease in the accrued liability of 9 953 11 570

(11,70%) (13,00%)

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Interest bearing liabilities Group Company

Final Average 
repayment rate of 

dates interest p.a.
(a) Secured
Instalment sale and finance lease agreements 2012 10,0% - 13,25% 8 941 12 215  – –
Loans from financial institutions 2010 Prime + 0% - 2% 95 300 – – –

104 241  12 215 – –

(b) Unsecured
Loans from financial institutions Prime – 207 420 – –  
Gregory Knitting Mills (Pty) Ltd 13% 5 000 20 000   – –
Grawood Investments (Pty) Limited Prime – 1% 97 990 –   – –
Other 1 523 –   – –
Loans from related parties
Grawood Investments (Proprietary) Limited Prime – 1% – 97 990 – –   
Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited Prime – 100 255  – 100 255

104 513  425 665   – 100 255
208 754  437 880   – 100 255

Less current portion of interest-bearing liabilities (40 357) (331 471) – (100 255)
168 397  106 409   – –

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.
Instalment sales and finance lease agreements are payable as follows: Principal Interest Gross instalments

2009
Less than one year 4 327 568 4 895 
Between one and five years 4 614 772 5 386 

8 941 1 340 10 281   
2008

Less than one year 6 006 1 097 7 103   
Between one and five years 6 209 731 6 940   

12 215 1 828 14 043  
Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable. Finance leases are repayable in monthly instalments

2009 2008
Loans from financial institutions
Nedbank – 48 000  
Standard Bank 30 300  37 875  
CommerzBank – 7 500  
State Bank of India 35 000 35 000  
Investec Bank 30 000 30 000  
ABSA – 43 781  
Other – 5 264 

95 300 207 420  

Notes to the Financial Statements FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH
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Security
The secured loans are secured as per note 40.

Standard Bank
This loan is secured by debtors of Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd. During the period certain covenants were breached and the loan can be called
upon by the bank.

Grawood Investments (Proprietary) Limited
This loan is not repayable before 31 August 2010.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Foreign currency management: Operating subsidiaries undertake transactions denominated in foreign currencies and hence exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. Material exchange rate exposure on imported raw materials, trade debtors/creditors, foreign currency assets and
liabilities and capital equipment is hedged through the use of forward exchange contracts. Trade exports are hedged using forward exchange
contracts and customer foreign currency accounts. Forward exchange contracts are not used for speculative purposes. At 31 March 2009, the
following forward exchange contracts had been entered into:

Currency Foreign Amount 000’s Average Rate Rand Amount 000’s
2009

Imports British Pound 13 14,9 194   
US Dollar 20 263 9,8 198 562   
Euro 570 13,0 7 398   

Exports Hong Kong Dollar 1 500 1,3 1 910   
US Dollar 788 10,3 8 094   
Euro 165 13,3 2 201 

30 June 2008

Imports British Pound 18 15,4 278   
US Dollar 22 957 8,1 184 936   
Euro 576 12,3 7 105    

Exports British Pound 266 15,4 4 093  
US Dollar 707 8,1 5 707   
Euro 814 12,5 10 189   

Interest rate risk management: The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows and places funds on the money market. This risk is
managed by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and daily call placements with reputable financial institutions.

Credit risk management: Financial assets, which potentially subject the group to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash and
cash equivalents, investments and receivables. A significant amount of the group’s trade debt is in respect of sales to subsidiaries of the major
listed clothing retailers in particular Woolworths Holdings Limited and Edcon Limited. The risk on cash and cash equivalents is managed through
dealing with established financial institutions with high credit standing.

The vast majority of trade debtors relate to sales made in the local market, with R705m (97%) being denominated in South African rands. Trade
receivables denominated in EUR accounted for 0.5%, and those in GBP and USD accounted for 1% each.

Receivables are presented net of impairment allowances. The risk arising on trade receivables is managed through a group policy on the granting
of credit limits, continual review and monitoring of these limits and insurance of trade receivables through an independent party.

The company is jointly and severally liable in respect of third party liabilities incurred by subsidiary companies.

Capital management: The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The capital base of the business is viewed as being the shareholder equity and banking facilities.

Collateral: Finance lease receivable balances are secured over the electronic and office automation equipment leased. The group does not
hold any collateral other than electronic and office automation equipment securing finance lease receivable balances. The group is not
permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the lessee.
During the period the group did not obtain any assets by taking possession of any collateral held as security.
Repossessed electronic and office automation equipment is taken into stock and becomes available for lease or sale.

Group
Allowances for credit losses 2009  2008
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the period was as follows:
Opening balance 11 516  12 382
Written off as irrecoverable (4 136) (1 560)
Increase in allowance for impairment 10 321  2 628
Decrease in allowance for impairment (2 081) (1 934) 

Closing balance 15 620  11 516
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Past due or impaired financial assets

The following analysis reflects the aging of trade receivables as at period end which have exceeded their credit terms, but have not been impaired.

30+ days 16 804 1 411   

60+ days 13 210 1 109    

90+ days 8 642 6 194   

120+ days 50 789 75 

89 445 8 789  

The following analysis reflects the aging and remaining value of trade receivables as at period end which are considered to have been impaired

and against  which an impairment for non-recovery has already been made.

30+ days – –   

60+ days 17 –  

90+ days 1 991 9 049   

120+ days 14 696 6 922  

16 704 15 971  

In determining the impairments, the Group considered, inter-alia, disputes with customers, untraceable and slow payers, long overdue accounts

and customers placed under liquidation. The Group holds no collateral as security against non-payment of any of the above mentioned trade

receivables, but does have credit guarantee insurance to protect against default. There has been no renegotiation of terms.

Cash flow and funding risk management: This risk is managed through cash flow forecasts and ensures that adequate borrowing facilities

are maintained. In terms of the articles of association, the group’s borrowing powers are unlimited, but in terms of the securitisation agreement

the group cannot raise further funds without permission of the Group’s bankers. Refer to note 33 for borrowing facilities.

Categories of financial assets

The carrying amount of financial assets, which also represent the maximum credit exposure and reasonably approximate their fair values, are

as follows:

Loans & receivables 803 783  949 205

Available for sale 1 442  20 405

805 225  969 610

Reconciliation with line items presented in the balance sheet:

2009

Loans and receivables Available for sale Non financial asset Total

Investments – 1 442 – 1 442   

Long-term receivables 35 412  – – 35 412  

Trade and other receivables 760 421 – 8 679 769 100    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 950 – – 7 950   

803 783 1 442 8 679 813 904   

2008

Investments – 20 405 – 20 405    

Long-term receivables 35 189 – – 35 189    

Trade and other receivables 871 150 – 7 919 879 069    

Cash and cash equivalents 42 866 – – 42 866   

949 205 20 405 7 919 977 529    

Group

Categories of financial liabilities

The carrying amount of financial liabilities, which also reasonably approximate 2009 2008

their fair values, are as follows:

Measured at amortised cost 1 071 945   1 334 770 
1 071 945   1 334 770 
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Reconciliation with line items presented in the balance sheet:
2009

Measured at amortised cost Total
Interest-bearing liabilities – non-current 168 397 168 397   
Deferred royalty payment 45 172 45 172   
Interest-bearing liabilities – current 40 357 40 357   
Trade and other payables 558 359 558 359    
Bank overdrafts 259 660 259 660  

1 071 945 1 071 945  
2008

Measured at amortised cost Total
Interest-bearing liabilities – non-current 106 409 106 409   
Deferred royalty payment – non-current 21 998  21 998   
Deferred royalty payment – current 23 249 23 249    
Interest-bearing liabilities – current 331 471  331 471   
Trade and other payables 704 500   704 500    
Bank overdrafts 147 143  147 143 

1 334 770   1 334 770  

Maturity profile of financial instruments: Maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2009 is summarised as follows:

Rand Thousands
0 – 12 months 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

2009
Assets
Investments – 1 442   – – 1 442    
Long term receivables – 35 412    – – 35 412    
Trade and other receivables 769 100    – – – 769 100    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 950    – – – 7 950    
Total financial assets 777 050 36 854 – – 813 904   
Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 40 357 168 397 – – 208 754    
Trade and other payables 558 359   – – – 558 359   
Bank overdrafts 259 660   – – – 259 660   
Deferred royalty payment 45 172   – – 45 172    
Total financial liabilities 903 548 168 397 – – 1 071 945    
Net financial (liabilities)/assets (126 498) (131 543) – – (258 041)

30 June 2008
Assets
Investments – 20 405 – – 20 405   
Long term receivables – 35 189 – – 35 189   
Trade and other receivables 879 069 – – – 879 069   
Cash and cash equivalents 42 866 – – – 42 866   
Total financial assets 921 935 55 594 – – 977 529  
Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 331 471 106 409 – – 437 880   
Trade and other payables 704 500 – – – 704 500  
Bank overdrafts 147 143 – – – 147 143  
Deferred royalty payment 23 249 21 998 – – 45 247   
Total financial liabilities 1 206 363 128 407 – – 1 334 770    
Net financial liabilities (284 428) (72 813) – – (357 241)

Fair value of financial instruments: The fair value of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values as disclosed in the
balance sheet.
Reclassification of financial assets
No financial assets were reclassified from fair value to at cost or amortised cost or vice-versa during the period.
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
No financial assets and/or liabilities have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Pledges of financial assets Group
Financial assets pledged as collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities, together 
with their carrying values are as follows: 2009 2008
The call account in a foreign subsidiary has been pledged as security when they 
exceed their facility of 1,500,000 Malutis 711  2 101  

Determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities
Receivables are impaired based on the estimated credit losses on a debtor by debtor basis. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies  are restated based on the period end exchange rate. Publically traded investments are revalued to their market values on an annual
basis. Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not
impaired as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.
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These “past due, but not impaired debtors” amount to: 89 445  8 789    

Derecognition of financial assets
There has been no transfer by the Group of financial assets to any outside party where such financial assets do not qualify for derecognition.
Defaults and breaches on loans
There were no breaches or defaults on the repayment of any loans payable during the current or prior period, however, the Group did breach
certain loan covenants during the period.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices such as foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the
value of its holding of financial instruments.
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group enters
into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:
• forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the import of electronic equipment, toys, finished goods and

raw materials.
• forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the payment of certain US dollar denominated royalties.
• interest rate caps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates
The fair value of the derivatives (which serve to hedge interest rate risk) at period end, 
determined by mark-to-marketing of contracts amounted to: (5 885) 238  
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
Adequate liquidity is further managed through the use of cash flow forecasts and by the maintenance of adequate borrowing facilities.
The Group is exposed to a number of risks including market risk (including currency risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures.
The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
Sensitivity analysis
Equity price sensitivity analysis
The Group faces a minor equity risk in that it holds Stanlib Wealthbuilder units as disclosed under the investments note. Net profit/loss for the
period would be unaffected by equity price volatility as revaluations to the equity investment are taken directly to equity. A devaluation in equities
in excess of 40% would be required before profit/loss would be impacted.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The group is exposed to foreign currency risk in the form of trade receivables and trade payables denominated in foreign currencies as well 
as related forward exchange contracts and customer foreign currency accounts. Details of the Group’s exposure in this regard is contained in
note 35 of these financial statements.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
At period end the Group’s net interest bearing borrowings amounted to R 460 million (2008: R 542 million). In the main the interest rates applicable
to these loans are variable. Consequently, in the event of a 10% change in interest rates, (ie an increase of 1,3%) there will be an additional interest
charge of R5,99 per annum million before tax.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 292 298  431 932    
Fair value of outstanding foreign exchange contracts 7 079    2 726    
Accruals and other current liabilities 258 604     269 463    
Shareholders for dividend 378     379 

558 359     704 500   
The operating lease accrual is payable as follows:
Less than one year (included under trade and other payables) 6 848  6 324 
Between one and five years (shown separately as operating lease accruals on the balance sheet) 451    440 

7 299  6 764  

23. DEFERRED ROYALTY PAYMENT
The deferred royalty payment represents the minimum royalty due on the agreement to manufacture and distribute certain clothing products
for the FIFA 2010 World Cup. This comprises two payments, one for USD 1 850 000 due on 30 June 2009 and one for USD 2 675 000 due on
15 March 2010. These have both been covered by forward exchange contracts in full.

24. PROVISIONS
Restructuring and retrenchment costs 2009 2008
Carrying amount at start of period 38 404 1 269    
Additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions 14 946 38 255   
Amounts utilised during the period (41 293) (1 120) 
Carrying amount at end of period 12 057 38 404 
These provisions relate to management’s restructuring plans already implemented and/or communicated before 31 March 2009.

It is anticipated that the costs associated with restructuring and retrenchments will occur within the next 12 months.
The uncertainties surrounding the provisions relate to the exact costs of restructuring and which employees will be retrenched and which will
be reassigned.
There are no expected reimbursements and no related assets have been recognised.
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25. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
With effect from 16 October 2008, the group acquired the remaining 25.1% share of Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd.

The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired were as follows:
Property, plant and equipment 4 177     
Long term receivables 35 370     
Inventory 61 920   
Trade and other receivables 56 507    
Prepayments 674    
Cash 4 655    
Loans (80 201)   
Short term loan (35 350)   
Trade and other payables (31 343)   
Provisions (5 413)   
Deferred taxation (7 305)   
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 3 691 
Share of net identifiable assets and liabilities to be acquired 926 
Minority shareholder’s loan 2 510 
Total interest acquired 3 436 
Negative goodwill 926 
Total purchase consideration 2 510 
Had the group acquired the remaining 25.1% share of Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd at the beginning of the period, the negative goodwill would have 
amounted to R1,125,902

Group Company

Rand thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008
26. CASH FLOW NOTES 

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
TO CASH (UTILISED BY)/GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(Loss)/profit before taxation (312 030) (256 281)  (12 861)   119 789  
Adjustment for:
Finance income (18 859) (31 134) (10 964) (255)
Finance expenses 86 494  112 779  10 579 299 
Share of losses from joint venture 2 503  9 181  – –
Negative goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary (926) – – –
Foreign exchange gains – unrealised (4 718) (3 626) – –
Foreign exchange losses – unrealised 20 540  10 136  – –
Depreciation  44 218  73 713 – –
Net (surplus)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4 117) 856 – –
Loss on disposal of treasury shares 1 531 – – –
Movement in lease accrual 11 –    – –
Movement in provisions (26 347) 37 135  – –
Net impairment of property, plant and equipment 64 890   87 852  – –
Impairment of assets held for sale 115   –  – –
Impairment of intangible assets 10 000  16 813 – –
Impairment of joint venture 7 517  4 028   10 020 16 628 
Investment income (234) (165) (137) (131)
Post-employment medical benefit 7 202  6 536  – –
Amortisation of intangible asset 1 793   3 915  – –
Inventory write down 42 116   14 069   – –

(78 301)  85 807   (3 363)   136 330  

27. WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 51 672 (74 092) – –
Decrease in trade and other receivables 114 687  17 782  – –
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (166 756)  83 934  (1) 362  

(397) 27 624 (1) 362 

28. TAXATION PAID
Taxation paid is reconciled to the amounts disclosed in 
the income statements as follows:
Amounts unpaid at beginning of period (8 402) (9 566)  – –
Amounts charged to the income statement for normal tax (7 866) (9 940) – (19)
Amounts unpaid at end of period 3 403   8 402  – –
Cash amounts paid (12 865) (11 104) – (19)

29. DIVIDEND PAID
Dividends are reconciled to the amounts disclosed as follows:
Amounts unpaid at beginning of period – – – –
Dividend – (10 821) – (11 046)
Cash amounts paid – (10 821) – (11 046)

30. PROCEEDS ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Book value of assets disposed 15 712   28 732  – –
Impairments to assets held for sale (115)  – – –
Net surplus/(loss) on disposal 4 117  (856) – –
Cash proceeds received 19 714   27 876   – –
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Group Company
31. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2009 2008 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Cash resources 7 950   42 866  363 363
Bank overdrafts (259 660) (147 143) (3 301) (3 236)

(251 710) (104 277) (2 938) (2 873)

Securitisation of assets
Refer to note 40 which relates to the securitisation pool for the benefit of the group lenders.

Group
32. LEASES 2009 2008

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: Nominal Amount

Less than one year 30 002   28 552  
Between one and five years 49 478   58 100  
More than five years 712  404  

80 192   87 056  
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows:
Less than one year 1 273   1 298  
Between one and five years 522  1 071 
More than five years – –

1 795   2 369   

Group
33. BORROWING FACILITIES 2009 2008

Available facility 858 637  952 783   
Net utilised (576 054) (657 373)
Unutilised balance 282 583  295 410  

With the exception of the loan from Grawood Investments (Pty) Ltd of R98 million which has been included above, these facilities have been 
secured in terms of note 40.

Group
34. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 

2009
Paid by a subsidiary company Retirement & Share options Directors Other
Name Salary Bonus medical contributions delivered fees benefits Total

Executive Directors
W. Simeoni (Chief Executive Officer) 1 537 166 249 – – – 1 952  
A. E. Dixon-Seager 1 154 – – – – – 1 154  
S. A. Queen* – – – – – – –
A. M. Ntuli 91 16 16 – – 22 145 
A. Searll - retired 27 October 2008 324 – – – – – 324  
A. D. Jacobson - retired 27 October 2008 474 – 15 – – – 489  

3 580 182 280 – – 22 4 064  

Non Executive Directors
J. Copelyn (Chairman) – – – – 60  – 60 
N. N. Lazarus (Deputy Chairman) – – – – 120  25 145 
M. H. Ahmed – – – – 120  – 120 
T. G. Govender – – – – 60 – 60
Y. Shaik – – – – 60 – 60

– – – – 420 25 445  
4 509  

* The remuneration of Stuart Queen is included in the managerial services provided by HCI referred to in note 37, Related Parties.
For the interest of directors in the company’s share capital please refer to the Directors’ Report. Directors’ interest in contracts is disclosed in note 37.

2008
Paid by a subsidiary company Retirement & Share options Directors Other
Name Salary Bonus medical contributions delivered fees benefits Total

Executive Directors
A. Searll (Chief Executive Officer) 2 112 – 51 – 89 242 2 494 
A. D. Jacobson 1 316 – 222 – 60 141 1 739 
W. Simeoni 1 901 159 265 – 60 210 2 595 

5 329 159 538 – 209 593 6 828 

Non Executive Directors
N. N. Lazarus (Chairman) – – – – 428 – 428 
J. Copelyn – – – – 60 – 60
R. Upton – – – – 232 – 232

– – – – 720 – 720 
7 548 
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35. FOREIGN CURRENCY COMMITMENTS
Currency Uncovered Covered Total

2009
Foreign currency monetary items are as follows:
Foreign receivables AUD 1 888 – 1 888   

EUR 4 364 573 4 937   
GBP 10 999 1 146 12 145   
USD 5 257 6 343 11 600   

22 508 8 062 30 570   
Foreign payables SGD 1 639 – 1 639   

CHF 247 – 247  
EUR 4 069 447 4 516    
GBP 229 881 1 110   
USD 29 467 132 667 162 134   

35 651 133 995 169 646   

Sensitivity analysis: A 10% strengthening of the rand would result in the uncovered receivables to be collected being reduced by R2 250 800 
while the uncovered payables balance would decrease by R3 565 100 resulting in a net gain of R1 314 300.

2008
Foreign currency monetary items are as follows:
Foreign receivables AUD 230  – 230  

EUR 10 869 8 607 19 476  
GBP 16 931 118 17 049  
USD 7 315 4 976 12 291  
YEN 58  – 58  

35 403 13 701 49 104  
Foreign payables AUD 391  – 391  

CHF 10 796   – 10 796 
EUR 16 206 3 701 19 907   
GBP 5 695 – 5 695  
USD 134 762 95 388 230 150  
YEN 319  – 319  

168 169 99 089 267 258  
Sensitivity analysis: A 10% strengthening of the rand would result in the uncovered receivables to be collected being reduced by R3 540 300
while the uncovered payables balance would decrease by R16 816 900 resulting in a net gain of R13 276 600.

The exchanges were as follows: Spot - Spot - Average
30 June 2008  31 March 2009 for the period

AUD 7,65790 6,64430 6,75003  
EUR 12,50800 12,82860 12,61032   
GBP 15,89250 13,81630 14,91688   
USD 7,96450 9,72050 9,22409   
SGD 5,84560 6,39430 6,28379   
YEN 0,07509 0,09994 0,09413   
CHF 7,82350 8,46320 8,18437   

36. COMMITMENTS 2009 2008

Contracted for 6 413   31 644  
Authorised but not contracted for 2 544 8 734  

8 957  40 378  

It is envisaged that this capital expenditure, relating to the acquisition of plant and equipment, will be incurred in the forthcoming financial year
and will be funded from internal cash resources and, if deemed necessary, external resources.

37. RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between group companies: During the period, in the ordinary course of business, certain companies within the group entered
into transactions with one another. These intra-group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Transactions with Dr A Searll from 1 July 2008 until his retirement on 27 October 2008: Subsidiary companies within the group have entered
into property lease transactions at market related rentals with Dr A Searll or entities controlled by him or in which he has part ownership. The monetary
value of these transactions was R2 605 887 for the period under review (2008: R7 556 089).

A subsidiary company has a loan owing to Grawood Investments (Pty) Limited, a company under the control of Dr A Searll. This loan bears interest
at a rate of prime minus 1%.

The monetary value of the loan at 31 March 2009 was R97 990 000 (2008: R97 990 000) and the related interest received while he was a related
party was R4 749 159 (2008: R12 415 332).

The group engaged the services of Crystal River Consultants, an entity owned by a family member of Dr A Searll. The related expense was 
R267 262 (2008: R798 228).

Dr A Searll partially underwrote the rights issue and received an underwriting fee of R570 000.

Transactions with directors: Mr J Copelyn purchased a painting from the group for R5 000 which was the market related price as determined
by an independent valuer.

Mr N Lazarus provided consulting and legal services to the group amounting to R30 000.

Mr Y Shaik provided legal services to the group amounting to R195 000.
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Transactions with Hosken Consolidated Investments Ltd (HCI) and entities in which HCI has an interest: Fees paid to HCI for the provision
of management services amounted to R1 121 671.

The group engaged the services of Business Systems Group (Pty) Ltd, an associate of HCI. The related expense was R214 710.

The group engaged the services of Limtech (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of HCI. The related expense was R15 430.

HCI purchased assets from the Group for R70 000 which was the market related price as determined by an independent valuer.

The group employed temporary staff through Isilumko Staffing (Pty) Ltd, an associate of HCI, costing R121 703.

Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of HCI had a loan to the group. A portion of the loan was converted to share capital
following the rights issue and the remainder together with interest calculated at prime was repaid during the period. The related interest was 
R10 514 711.

HCI partially underwrote the rights issue and received an underwriting fee of R5 700 000.

Remuneration key management personnel: Key management personnel are directors and those executives having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the group. The remuneration paid by the group to its key management personnel amounted
to R21,9 million (2008: R27,4 million).

Transactions with Sustainable Fibre Solutions (Pty) Ltd: Loans amounting to R34 648 116 have been granted to Sustainable Fibre Solutions
(Pty) Ltd, an asset held for sale, as reflected in note 16.

During the period management and administration fees of R1 077 260 and interest of R458 269 was earned from Sustainable Fibre Solutions (Pty) Ltd.

Shares held by directors and their related entities: The percentage of shares held by directors of the company and their related entities at the
balance sheet date are disclosed on page 16.

Related parties: All subsidiaries qualify as related parties. All subsidiaries are listed on page 43.

38. CONTINGENCIES
A subsidiary company has contingent liabilities in the amount of R4 million relating to royalty claims.
A subsidiary company has given a guarantee in favour of IATA for R1,1 million.

39. CHANGE IN COMPARATIVES
As explained in note 2, Segmental Report, the basis of segmentation has been changed. The comparative segmental report has been
amended accordingly.  
The deferred royalty payments due within 12 months have been separately disclosed on the face of the Balance Sheet.   
Previously these were included in trade and other payables.   

40. SECURITISATION OF ASSETS
Lenders to the group (namely, ABSA Bank, Standard Bank, Nedbank, Investec Bank and State Bank of India) have undertaken to maintain 
the existing facilities until at least 30 June 2010 on the basis that most of the group’s assets (including, without limitation, immovable property,
intellectual property, insurances, trade debtors, inventory and material plant and machinery as well as pledges and cessions of shares in and
claims against group companies) are secured in their favour in various ways.

The security has been provided to a special purpose company (Seardel Security (Pty) Ltd), which has guaranteed the obligations of the group
companies in favour of the lenders and which in turn is indemnified by Group companies.

Name of entity Security Bond
(Security Grantor) Cession (Type, amount and subject matter)

Nyenye Clothing Manufacturers (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Consolidated Textiles (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Val Hau et Cie (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Seartec Industries (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Seartec (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Seardel Number 16 (Pty) Ltd Yes None
Prima Toys & Leisure Group (Pty )Ltd Yes None
Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd Yes 1. General Notarial Bond, R1 billion, movable assets of Seardel Group Trading

2. Special Notarial Bond, R300 million, movable assets of Seardel Group Trading
3. Mortgage Bonds, R600 million, all immovable property owned by Seardel Group Trading

Frame Industrials (Pty) Ltd Yes 1. General Notarial Bond, R5 million, movable assets of Frame Industrials
2. Special Notarial Bond, R15 million, movable assets of Frame Industrials

Prima Toys & Leisure Trading (Pty )Ltd Yes General Notarial Bond, R50 million, movable assets of Prima Trading
Seardel Investment Corporation Limited Yes None

Note
Security Cession means a security cession in terms of which the Security Grantor cedes to the Security SPV in securitatem debiti all of such
Security Grantor’s present and future Rights and Interest as security for the due, proper and timeous payment and performance in full of the
Security Grantor’s obligations under the Indemnity, on the terms of the written Security Cession signed on 21 November 2008 between the
Security SPV and the Security Grantor.
Indemnity means an irrevocable and unconditional indemnity given by the Security Grantor to the Security SPV, indemnifying the Security SPV
in respect of any claim or liability of the Security SPV arising under the Guarantees which the Security SPV has provided in respect of all monies
and liabilities owing by the Security Grantor and other companies within the Borrower Group in connection with the banking facilities provided
by the Guaranteed Parties to the Borrower Group and against any loss, damage, liability, costs or expenses of any nature which the Security
SPV may incur as a consequence of the occurrence of any Event of Default, on the terms of the written Indemnity Agreement signed on 
21 November 2008 between the Security SPV and the Security Grantor.
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The impact of the above on the figures disclosed in the Balance Sheet is as follows:

Per Balance Sheet Securitised Unsecuritised
Property, plant and equipment 969 526 967 294 2 232 
Intangible assets 21 490 21 490 – 
Other investments 1 442 1 442 – 
Long-term receivables 35 412 35 412 – 
Inventories 754 354 749 360 4 994 
Trade and other receivables 769 100 756 932 12 168 
Non-current assets held for sale 26 818 26 818 – 

41. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In the process of implementing the board’s turnaround plan, it has made the decision in principle, subject to the outcome of the required
consultation process with interested parties to close four manufacturing operations that comprises the Frame Division’s vertical pipeline being
spinning, weaving, finishing and denim divisions.
The divisions are situated in New Germany, Kwazulu Natal, and financial results are reported within the textile operating segment. The affected
divisions convert raw cotton into yarn, the majority of which is then converted in woven fabric and finished textile products.
The results included in the income statement and balance sheet can be summarised as follows:

Income statement R’000

Revenue 790 007

Loss before taxation (127 799) 

Balance sheet

Non Current assets
Property, plant and equipment 194 250  

Current Assets 486 438  
Current Liabilities 261 011  

Net current assets 225 427  

Restructuring and other closure costs relating to the proposed closure of the divisions, will be funded by the release of working capital.

42. NEW STANDARDS

NEW STANDARDS ADOPTED DURING THE YEAR

IFRS 8 – Segmental Reporting

In terms of this IFRS, segment reporting is now based on the information that management uses internally for evaluating segment performance
and when deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2009, and have
not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:
IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs

This will make the capitalisation of borrowing costs mandatory. This revision is not anticipated to have a material effect on the group’s results as
the group’s current policy is to capitalise borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.
IFRIC 11 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions

This Interpretation addresses two issues. The first is whether the following transactions should be accounted for as equity-settled or as cash-
settled under the requirements of IFRS 2.
Share-based payment transactions in which an entity receives services as consideration for its own equity instruments shall be accounted for as
equity-settled.
The second issue concerns share-based payment arrangements that involve two or more entities within the same group. Provided that the share-
based arrangement is accounted for as equity-settled in the consolidated financial statements of the parent, the subsidiary shall measure the
services received from its employees in accordance with the requirements applicable to equity-settled share-based payment transactions, with
a corresponding increase recognised in equity as a contribution from the parent.
As there are no share based payments in the group (other than a legacy scheme in which all options have been exercised) this IFRIC will have
no effect on the group results.
IFRIC 14 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

This IFRIC provides a clearer interpretation of the amount of a pension fund surplus that can be recognised as an asset. Any changes in the
defined benefit asset will be recognised directly in profit and loss. This IFRIC is unlikely to have any effect on the group as it has no defined 
benefit assets.
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Interest in Subsidiary Companies AT PERIOD END

Name of subsidiary companies

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa unless otherwise stated)

Issued capital % Interest Shares at book value

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Direct holdings R R % % R R

Bibette (Pty) Ltd* – 1 – 100 – 1 

Brits Automotive Systems (Pty) Ltd 196 196 51 51 – – 

Creative Fashions (Pty) Ltd* – 40 – 100 – 40 

Consolidated Textiles (Pty) Ltd* 120 000 120 000 100 100 238 248 672 238 248 672 

Frame Fibres (Pty) Ltd* 1 1 100 100 – – 

Frame Industrials (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 100 100 

Harven Manufacturing Co. (Pvt) Ltd - Zimbabwe 405 001 405 001 50 50 – – 

Nyenye Clothing Manufacturers (Pty) Ltd  - Lesotho 1 000 1 000 100 100 1 000 1 000

Oceanair Travel (Pty) Ltd 2 600 2 600 55 55 13 805 13 805 

Prima Toy and Leisure Group (Pty) Ltd 823 290 823 290 100 100 34 636 997 34 636 997 

Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd 2 500 000 2 500 000 100 100 7 546 905 7 546 905 

Seardel Number 16 (Pty) Ltd* 180 895 180 895 100 100 7 163 840 7 163 840  

Seardel Number 17 (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 – – 

Seardel Sports (Pty) Ltd 1 000 – 100 – 4 294 – 

Seartec (Pty) Ltd* 669 106 669 106 100 100 85 358 581 85 358 581 

Seartec Trading (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 74,9 1 000 749 

Val Hau et Cie (Pty) Ltd 10 000 10 000 100 100 6 635 818 6 635 818 

Ordinary shares at book value 379 611 012   379 606 508    

Preference shares at book value 69 760 000 69 760 000    

Shares at book value 449 371 012   449 366 508   

Amounts owing by/(to) subsidiary companies 427 159 729 232 377 493 

Seardel Group Trading (Pty) Ltd 555 831 733  335 814 697  

Seartec Industries (Pty) Ltd* (127 995 190) (127 995 190)

Frame Fibres (Pty) Ltd* – 27 433 887 

Other (676 814) (2 875 901)

These loans are interest free and there are no fixed terms for repayment

*Dormant
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2009 2008

Banks, investment, finance and nominee companies and trusts 70% 55%

Directors and staff 0% 18%

Individuals 13% 10%

Insurance companies and pension funds 17% 17%

2009 2008

Banks, investment, finance and nominee companies and trusts 96% 16%

Directors and staff 0% 64%

Individuals 3% 5%

Insurance companies and pension funds 1% 15%

The JSE Limited Information 2009 2008
31 March 2009 30 June 2008

Total transactions Ordinary 187 136
N Ordinary 250 665

Total number of shares traded (000) Ordinary 4 098 784
N Ordinary 5 772 6 178

Total value of shares traded (R000) Ordinary 2 093 5 136
N Ordinary 3 279 36 473

Weighted average number of shares in issue (000) Ordinary 376 408  22 908
N Ordinary 66 845 67 140

% of shares traded to weighted average number of issued shares Ordinary 1 3
N Ordinary 9 9

Seardel Number % of total
N ordinary shares of shareholders shareholders Number of shares % of total shares

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

1 – 1 000 333 338 41 36 120 063 123 039 – –

1 001 – 5 000 226 305 27 32 575 704 800 677 1 1

5 001 – 50 000 188 219 23 23 3 121 647 3 572 964  4 5

50 001 – 100 000 36 37 4 4 2 636 706 2 771 050 4 4

Over 100 000 39 43 5 5 62 511 891 61 698 281 91 90

822 942 100 100 68 966 011 68 966 011 100 100

Analysis of Shareholders

Seardel Number % of total
ordinary shares of shareholders shareholders Number of shares % of total shares

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

1 – 1 000 566 600 57 73 132 207 144 704 – 1

1 001 – 5 000 128 136 13 16 342 442 355 139 – 2

5 001 – 50 000 166 71 17 9 3 540 381 1 003 795 1 4

50 001 – 100 000 52 10 5 1 4 141 090 762 041 1 3

Over 100 000 85 9 8 1 627 985 756 20 818 948 98 90

997 826 100 100 636 141 876 23 084 627 100 100
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1. DEFINITIONS
In this statement, unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise, the words in the first column have the meanings stated opposite them
in the second column. Words in the singular include the plural and vice versa. Words signifying one gender include the others and reference to a
person includes references to a body corporate and vice versa.

“board” the board of directors for the time being of the company or, should the board of directors delegate its
authority to a committee of the board, such committee (unless the context indicates to the contrary);

“business day” any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday officially recognised as such in South Africa;

“employee” any full-time employee, including a director holding salaried employment or office of the group (but
excluding non-executive directors);

“employer company” the relevant company in the group which employs or employed the participants or in respect of which
the participant holds or held office, and which has adopted the terms of the scheme; 

“final expiry date” in respect of any particular option, the 8th (eighth) anniversary of the date of the option notice in terms
of which such option was granted;

“first allocations” options granted to employees pursuant to the scheme, in respect of which the option date falls in the
period starting on the date of commencement of the scheme and ending on 31 March 2010;

“group” the company and its subsidiaries from time to time;

“the JSE” the JSE Limited (registration number 2005/022939/06), a public company incorporated in accordance
with the laws of South Africa and licensed as an exchange under the Securities Services Act, 2004;

“JSE Listings Requirements” the listings requirements published by the JSE;

“middle market price” in relation to any particular business day, the volume weighted average of the middle market price of the
shares as traded on the JSE (whether actually traded or not) during the 20 (twenty) business days
preceding the business day in question, as notified to the company by the JSE;

“‘N’ shares” the “N” ordinary shares of 0.25c (twenty-five hundredths of a cent) each in the share capital of Seardel;

“option” an option to acquire shares granted to an employee in terms of the scheme which has not yet been
exercised and which has not lapsed;

“option date” the date of the option notice;

“option notice” the written notice in terms of which the trustees, on behalf of the trust and upon the directions of the
board from time to time, grant an option to an employee (selected in the sole discretion of the board and
notified in writing from time to time to the trustees) to acquire shares in terms of the scheme;

“option price” the price per share, if any, payable by a participant pursuant to the exercise of an option as set out in
the option notice;

“participant” an employee who has been granted an option (or his executor, heir, administrator, trustee or permitted
assign, as the case may be);

“performance target” such performance target as may be determined by the board and specified in the option notice;

“the scheme” the Seardel Long Term Incentive Plan;

“this statement” this statement, forming part of the annual report of Seardel, dated 17 August 2009;

“Seardel” or “the company” Seardel Investment Corporation Limited (registration number 1968/011249/06), a public company
incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa, the shares of which are listed on the JSE;

“Seardel shareholders” or “shareholders” the registered shareholders of the shares and the “N” shares;

“shares” the ordinary shares of R0.25 (twenty-five cents) each in the share capital of Seardel;

“South Africa” the Republic of South Africa;

“subsequent allocations” options granted to employees pursuant to the scheme, in respect of which the option date falls after 
31 March 2010;

“tranche” that number of shares in respect of which the participant becomes entitled to exercise the option on the
relevant anniversary date of the option notice, subject to meeting the relevant performance targets (if any);

“transfer secretaries” Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited (registration number 2004/003647/07),
a private company duly incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa;

“trust” the Seardel Long Term Incentive Trust to be established in terms of a written deed upon approval of the
trust and the scheme by the shareholders, as contemplated in this statement; and

“trustees” the trustees for the time being of the trust.

Salient Features of the Seardel
Long Term Incentive Plan
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2. INTRODUCTION
The purpose of this statement is to advise Seardel shareholders of the proposed adoption of the trust and the scheme (and to set out the salient
features thereof) in order for the shareholders to consider and vote in respect of the ordinary resolution approving the adoption of the scheme at
the annual general meeting of Seardel shareholders to be held at 10:00 on 29 October 2009.

3. RATIONALE OF THE SCHEME
3.1. The purpose of the scheme is to provide selected employees with the opportunity to acquire shares, thereby ensuring that employees are

encouraged and motivated to pursue continued growth and profitability of their employer companies.

3.2. The purpose of the trust is to administer the scheme for the benefit of the participants.

3.3. Each employer company shall bear the costs in respect of the acquisition, purchase or subscription of the shares by the trust, in so far as
such costs directly relate to the participation of the employees (or former employees) of that employer company in the scheme and in so far
as the costs are not recovered from such employees in terms of the scheme.

4. SALIENT FEATURES OF THE SCHEME
4.1. Only employees are eligible to participate in the scheme and to acquire options.

4.2. For so long as may be required by the JSE Listings Requirements, no shares which are held by the trust from time to time in terms of the
scheme (other than as nominee) will be taken into account for purposes of resolutions proposed in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements
or for determining categorisations, as detailed in the JSE Listings Requirements.

4.3. The aggregate number of shares (whether issued or unissued) which may be utilised for the scheme shall not exceed 63,500,000 (sixty three
million five hundred thousand) shares. This limitation shall not be exceeded without the Seardel shareholders’ approval as required in terms
of the JSE Listings Requirements.

4.4. The aggregate number of shares which any one participant may acquire in terms of the scheme shall not exceed 12,700,000 (twelve million
seven hundred thousand) shares.

4.5. The trustees, on behalf of the trust, and upon the directions of the board from time to time, shall grant options to employees (selected in the
sole discretion of the board and notified in writing from time to time to the trustees) to acquire shares, the terms and details of which shall
be set out in the option notices.

4.6. Acceptance of an option granted to an employee by way of an option notice must be evidenced by such employee counter-signing the option
notice and returning it to the trustees within a period of 20 (twenty) business days after the date of such option notice, failing which the option
will lapse and will no longer be capable of acceptance, provided that the trustees may direct, within their sole discretion, that such option
shall be deemed not to have lapsed.

4.7. An option, after having been granted to an employee, is personal to and only capable of being exercised by the relevant participant. Options
may not be sold, alienated, disposed of in any manner, transferred, pledged or encumbered in any manner whatsoever without the prior
written consent of the trustees.

4.8. An option granted in terms of the scheme may only be exercised by the participant in accordance with the terms of the relevant option notice.

4.9. Subject to what is stated in paragraph 4.10 below, a participant shall become entitled to exercise the option in accordance with the following
schedule:

4.9.1. up to 10% (ten percent) of the number of shares to which the option relates from the first anniversary of the option date;

4.9.2. up to a further 20% (twenty percent) of the number of shares to which the option relates from the second anniversary of the 
option date;

4.9.3. up to a further 30% (thirty percent) of the number of shares to which the option relates from the third anniversary of the option 
date; and

4.9.4. the balance, namely 40% (forty percent) of the number of shares to which the option relates, from the fourth anniversary of the 
option date.

4.10. The exercise of the option in respect of each tranche, shall be subject to the following conditions:

4.10.1. the continued employment of the participant on the date on which the option is exercised; and

4.10.2. the achievement of the performance targets (if any) in respect of each particular tranche,

provided that the participant shall only be entitled to exercise the option in respect of a particular tranche from the later of the relevant
anniversary of the option date stipulated in paragraph 4.9 above and the date on which the performance target (if applicable) is met (subject
to 4.11 below), until the final expiry date. If the participant does not exercise the option by the final expiry date, the option shall lapse, provided
that the trustees may direct, within their sole discretion, that such option shall be deemed not to have lapsed.

4.11. If the performance target (if applicable) in respect of any tranche is not met on the relevant date on which such performance target 
was required to have been met (as set out in the option notice), the option shall lapse in respect of such shares which are the subject matter
of that tranche.
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Salient Features of the Seardel
Long Term Incentive Plan (continued)

4.12. A participant shall not be entitled to exercise an option during a closed period, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, and if the final
expiry date of an option falls within a closed period, the participant shall be entitled to exercise such option for a period of 30 (thirty) days
following the expiry of the closed period and the option shall not lapse until such 30 (thirty) day period has expired.

4.13. The option price per share payable by the participant on the exercise of an option will be:

4.13.1. in respect of the first allocations, nil; and

4.13.2. in respect of subsequent allocations, the middle market price as at the option date, less a 10% (ten percent) discount, and subject
further to an adjustment in terms of the following formula:

A = B – C

where:

A = the adjusted option price;

B = the original option price per share, as stipulated in the option notice, being the middle market price as at the option date, less
a 10% (ten percent) discount; and

C = the sum of all dividends and other payments to shareholders, including returns of capital (if any), declared and paid by the
company per share in the issued share capital of the company, provided the last date for registration (the record date) for all
such dividends or payments (if any) occurred during the period from the option date until the date on which the option is
exercised (both dates inclusive),

provided that where this formula results in “A” being a negative number, the adjusted option price shall be nil.

4.14. Payment for, if required, and delivery of the shares shall take place in accordance with the option notice.

4.15. A participant shall be entitled to the delivery of and to take transfer of the shares in respect of which an option has been exercised against
payment of the option price, or, where no option price is payable, as soon as is reasonably possible after the option has been exercised,
subject to paragraph 4.16 below.

4.16. Should a participant require assistance in making payment of the option price (if any):

4.16.1. the trustees shall be entitled (but not obliged), upon the written request of the participant, to sell, on behalf of the participant, such
number of shares in respect of which the participant has exercised an option but has not made payment of the relevant option price,
as is required to settle the option price, with the balance of the shares acquired being delivered to the participant; or

4.16.2. the trustees shall, with the prior consent of the board, be entitled in their sole discretion to permit the participant to take delivery of
the shares in respect of which he has exercised an option without paying therefor immediately, the outstanding payment of the option
price being a debt due by the participant to the trust, which debt the participants employer company shall be obliged to pay to the
trust. The participant shall be obliged to make payment of his debt by no later than the fifth anniversary of the date on which the
relevant option was exercised (or such shorter period as the trustees may determine) and the debt may, at the instance of the
trustees, bear interest at the official rate of interest, as provided for in the seventh schedule to the Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962 (as
amended). Until the outstanding balance of a participants debt has been paid in full, the dividends or other payments (including
returns of capital) on any shares that have been financed in this way, less a portion thereof representing the estimated tax (if any)
payable by the participant shall be paid to the trustees in reduction of the participants debt.

4.17. A participant shall bear all costs, duties, taxes, fees, commission and the like pertaining to the transfer of the shares in respect of which an
option has been exercised and shall pay same on demand.

4.18. All risk and benefit of the shares, including, but not limited to, all dividend rights and voting rights appertaining to such shares, shall pass to the
participant on the date of exercise of the option and payment by the participant of the option price (if any), subject to paragraph 4.16 above.

4.19. The trust has a pre-emptive right to purchase the shares in the event that an employee wishes to dispose of any of the shares received in
terms of the scheme.

4.20. Upon termination of employment of a participant, the options shall lapse in respect of such number of shares in respect of which the
participant has not yet become entitled to exercise the option, provided that the trustees shall be entitled (but not obliged) to direct that the
relevant participant may exercise such option on a date as may be determined by the trustees within their sole discretion, if the termination
of employment is as the result of:

4.20.1. death; or

4.20.2. ill health or injury, provided that the relevant employer company has received a certificate from a suitably qualified, independent
medical practitioner nominated for this purpose by the employer company or otherwise acceptable to the employer company 
to the effect that, due to such ill health or injury, the participant shall not be able to perform his normal employment duties for 
a consecutive period exceeding 12 (twelve) months; or

4.20.3. normal or late retirement in accordance with the rules of the pension/provident/retirement fund of the relevant employer company; or

4.20.4. early retirement (being retirement other than such normal or late retirement) with the approval of the board; or

4.20.5. such other reason as may be determined or approved by the board.
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4.21. Where the shares in respect of which an option has been allocated to a participant, are not subsequently issued to such participant (for
example, as a result of the forfeiture of the option), such shares shall revert back to the scheme and may form the subject of further options
to be allocated to participants under the scheme.

4.22. In the event that a change of control occurs in the company or the company s shares cease to be listed on the JSE, the terms of the scheme
shall continue in force. In such circumstances, the price of the shares shall become based on their market value which will be determined by
either the board, or if requested by a participant, by the auditors for the time being of the company. If a change of control occurs in an employer
company, all unexercised options held by participants who are employees of the relevant employer company shall automatically lapse.

5. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
The implementation of the scheme is subject to the fulfillment of the following suspensive conditions, namely:

5.1. the approval of shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements; and

5.2. the trust being registered by the Master of the High Court of South Africa.

6. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The directors of the company collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this explanatory
statement and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make this statement
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this statement contains all information
required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

7. RECOMMENDATION
The directors are of the opinion that the scheme will be beneficial to the group and accordingly recommend that Seardel shareholders vote in favour
of the ordinary resolution necessary for the adoption of the scheme.

8. SEARDEL ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
8.1. An annual general meeting will be held at 10:00 on 29 October 2009 for the purposes of considering, inter alia, an ordinary resolution

(requiring a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the votes cast in favour of such resolution by all Seardel shareholders present or
represented by proxy at the annual general meeting to approve such resolution):

8.1.1. approving the scheme; and

8.1.2. placing 63,500,000 (sixty three million five hundred thousand) shares under the control of the directors of Seardel for purposes of
their being allotted and issued in terms of the provisions of the scheme.

8.2. The proposed ordinary resolution accompanies the notice of annual general meeting, which is included in this annual report on page 49.

9. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
A copy of the scheme will be available for inspection during normal business hours (Saturdays, Sundays and South African public holidays excluded)
at the registered office of Seardel and at the office of the company s sponsor, Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited (both addresses are set out
immediately below) from 5 October 2009 to 29 October 2009.

For and on behalf of the board

HCI MANAGERIAL SERVICES (PTY) LTD
Company secretary

Cape Town

18 September 2009

REGISTERED OFFICE SPONSOR
1 Moorsom Avenue Java Capital (Pty) Ltd
Cnr Bofors Circle & Moorsom Avenue (Registration number 2002/031862/07)
Epping Industria II 2 Arnold Road
7460 Rosebank, 2196
(PO Box 524, Eppindust, Cape Town, 7475) (PO Box 2087, Parklands, 2121)

CORPORATE LAW ADVISER
Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc.
1 North Wharf Square
Loop Street
Foreshore
Cape Town
8001
(PO Box 2293, Cape Town, 8000)
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 41st Annual General Meeting of

Seardel Investment Corporation Limited (“the Company”) will be held 

at the registered address of the company, 1 Moorsom Avenue, corner

Bofors Circle and Moorsom Avenue, Epping Industria 2, 7460 on 

29 October 2009 at 10:00, at which the issues and resolutions set out

in the agenda below will be considered and, if deemed fit, passed with

or without modification.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND INFORMATION

All shareholders of ordinary and/or N ordinary shares in the Company

(“shares”) are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the annual general

meeting. If you hold certificated shares (i.e. have not dematerialised

your shares in the Company) or are registered as an “own name”

dematerialised shareholder (i.e. have specifically instructed your Central

Security Depository Participant (“CSDP”) to hold your shares in your

own name on the Company’s sub-register), then:

• you may attend and vote at the annual general meeting; alternatively

• you may appoint one or more proxies to represent you at the annual

general meeting by completing the attached form of proxy and

returning it to the office of the transfer secretaries, to be received by

no later than 24 (twenty four) hours prior to the time appointed for

the holding of the meeting.

Please note that if you own dematerialised shares (i.e. have replaced

the paper share certificates representing the shares with electronic

records of ownership under the JSE Limited’s (“JSE”) electronic

settlement system held through a CSDP or broker (or their nominee)

and are not registered as an “own name” dematerialised shareholder

you are not a registered shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, in

these circumstances, subject to the mandate between yourself and

your CSDP or broker, as the case may be:

• if you wish to attend the annual general meeting you must contact

your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, and obtain the relevant

letter of representation from it; alternatively

• if you are unable to attend the annual general meeting but wish 

to be represented at the meeting, you must contact your CSDP 

or broker, as the case may be, and furnish it with your voting

instructions in respect of the annual general meeting and/or 

request it to appoint a proxy. You must not complete the attached

form of proxy. The instructions must be provided in accordance

with the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker, as

the case may be, within the time period required by your CSDP 

or broker, as the case may be.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, recorded in the

Company’s sub-register as holders of dematerialised shares held on

behalf of an investor/beneficial owner should, when authorised in terms

of their mandate or instructed to do so by the person on behalf of 

whom they hold dematerialised shares, vote by either appointing a duly

authorised representative to attend and vote at the annual general

meeting or by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance

with the instructions thereon and returning it to the office of the

Company’s transfer secretaries to be received by not less than 24 hours

prior to the time appointed for the holding of the meeting (excluding

Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays).

On a poll the holders of ordinary shares of 25 cents each are entitled 

to 100 votes per ordinary share and the holders of N ordinary shares 

of 0,25 cents each are entitled to one vote per N ordinary share.

The annual report to which this notice of Annual General Meeting is

attached provides details of:

• the directors of the Company, including brief CV’s of the directors
nominated for re-election, on page 5;

• the major shareholders of the Company on page 16;

• the directors’ shareholding in the Company on page 16;

• the share capital of the Company in note 17, and an analysis of
shareholders on page 44; and

• the explanatory statement in respect of the proposed Seardel 
Long Term Incentive Plan on page 45.

There are no material changes to the group’s financial or trading

position (other than as disclosed in the accompanying annual report),

nor are there any legal or arbitration proceedings that may materially

affect the financial position of the group between 31 March 2009 and

the reporting date.

The directors, namely John Copelyn, Neil Lazarus, Walter Simeoni,

Stuart Queen, Anthony Dixon-Seager, Mohamed Ahmed, Yunis Shaik,

Amon Ntuli and Kevin Govender, collectively and individually accept 

full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify

that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts 

that have been omitted which would make any statement false or

misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts

have been made, and that the annual report and this notice provide 

all information required by law and the Listings Requirements of the 

JSE (“JSE Listings Requirements”).

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Seardel Investment Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number 1968/011249/06)

Ordinary shares (share code: SER ISIN: ZAE000029815). N ordinary shares (share code: SRN ISIN: ZAE000030144).

(“Seardel” or the “Company”)
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Agenda
1. To confirm the minutes of the shareholders’ meeting held on 

28 January 2009.

2. To receive and adopt the financial statements – Ordinary

Resolution Number 1 

“Resolved that the annual financial statements and group annual

financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2009 as tabled at

the meeting are hereby adopted.”

3. General Authority to Repurchase Company Shares – Special 

Resolution Number 1

“Resolved that, the Company hereby approves, as a general approval

contemplated in sections 85 and 89 of the Companies Act, No. 61 of

1973, as amended, (“the Act”), the acquisition by the Company or any

of its subsidiaries from time to time of the issued shares of the

Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the

directors of the Company may from time to time determine, but subject

to the provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements as

presently constituted and which may be amended from time to time,

and provided that:

• acquisitions by the Company and its subsidiaries of shares in the

capital of the Company may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any 

one financial year 20% (twenty percent) (or 10% (ten percent) where 

such acquisitions relate to the acquisition by a subsidiary) of the

Company's issued share capital of the class of the repurchased

shares from the date of the grant of this general authority;

• any such acquisition of shares shall be effected through the order

book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any 

prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the

counter party (reported trades are prohibited);

• the Company (or any subsidiary) is authorised to do so in terms of its

articles of association;

• this general authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next

annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond 

15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

• in determining the price at which the Company’s shares are acquired

by the Company or its subsidiaries in terms of this general authority,

the maximum premium at which such shares may be acquired may

not be greater than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of

the market price at which such shares are traded on the JSE for the

5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date the repurchase

transaction is effected;

• at any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent to

effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s behalf;

• the Company will only undertake a repurchase if, after such

repurchase, it still complies with paragraphs 3.37 to 3.41 of the JSE

Listings Requirements concerning shareholder spread requirements;

• the company or its subsidiary may not repurchase shares during 

a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the Listings

Requirements of the JSE unless there is a repurchase programme in

place and the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased during

the prohibited period are fixed and full details thereof have been

disclosed in an announcement over SENS prior to commencement

of the prohibited period;

• in the case of a derivative (as contemplated in the JSE Listings

Requirements) the price of the derivative shall be subject to the limits

set out in section 5.84(a) of the JSE Listings Requirements;

• a paid press announcement will be published as soon as the

Company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired shares

constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the number

of shares of the class of shares repurchased in issue at the time 

of granting of this general authority, and each time the Company

acquires a further 3% (three percent) of such shares thereafter, 

which announcement shall contain full details of such acquisitions.”

STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY 

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board

of Directors of the Company hereby state that: 

a) it is their intention to utilise the general authority to acquire shares in

the Company if at some future date the cash resources of the Company

are in excess of its requirements or there are other good grounds 

for doing so. In this regard the directors will take account of, inter alia,

an appropriate capitalisation structure for the Company, the long-

term cash needs of the Company, and the interests of the Company;

b) in determining the method by which the Company intends to acquire

its shares, the maximum number of shares to be acquired and 

the date on which such acquisition will take place, the directors of 

the Company will only make the acquisition if at the time of the

acquisition they are of the opinion that: 

- the Company and its subsidiaries would, after the repurchase, be

able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course

of business for the next 12 (twelve) months after the date of this

notice of the annual general meeting;

- the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly

valued in accordance with South African Statements of Generally

Accepted Accounting Practice and recognised and measured in

accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited

financial statements, would, after the repurchase, be in excess of

the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries for

the next 12 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of the

annual general meeting;

- the issued share capital and reserves of the Company and its

subsidiaries would, after the repurchase, be adequate for the

ordinary business purposes of the Company or any acquiring

subsidiary for the next 12 (twelve) months after the date of

approval of this notice of the annual general meeting; and

- the working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries

would, after the repurchase, be adequate for ordinary business

purposes for the next 12 (twelve) months after the date of approval

of this notice of the annual general meeting;
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Agenda (continued)

c) they will not make any repurchase until such time as the Company s

sponsors have provided the JSE with a letter in relation to the

working capital statement set out above (as required in terms of the

JSE Listings Requirements);

REASON AND EFFECT OF SPECIAL RESOLUTION No. 1

The reason for special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company a

general authority in terms of the Act for the acquisition by the Company,

or any of its subsidiaries, of shares issued by the Company, which

authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual general

meeting of the Company or the variation or revocation of such general

authority by special resolution by any subsequent general meeting of

the Company, provided that the general authority shall not extend

beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of this annual general meeting.

The passing and registration of this special resolution will have the effect

of authorising the Company or any of its subsidiaries to acquire shares

issued by the Company.

4. General Authority over Unissued Shares – Ordinary 

Resolution Number 2

“Resolved that all the unissued authorised shares in the Company, 

be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors, subject to

the provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, until the

next annual general meeting.”

5. Appointment of Directors – Ordinary Resolution Numbers 3.1, 

3.2, 3.3, 3.4 

5.1 Mr Neil Norman Lazarus – Ordinary Resolution Number 3.1

Mr Neil Norman Lazarus retires in accordance with the Company s

Articles of Association but, being eligible, offers himself for re-election

as a non-executive director. For CV details, see page 5. Accordingly, 

to consider and if deemed fit, to re-elect Mr N N Lazarus by way of

passing the ordinary resolution set out below.

5.2 Ms Rachel Watson, Ms Nazeema Teladia and Mr Gys Wege 

– Ordinary Resolution Numbers 3.2, 3.3, 3.4

In terms of the company s Articles of Association (Article 82.3) any

directors appointed after the conclusion of the preceding annual

general meeting shall retire from office at the annual general meeting

held immediately after their appointment. They are eligible for re-election.

Accordingly the meeting needs to consider:

5.2.1 Ms Rachel Watson – Ordinary Resolution No 3.2

Ms Watson has 33 years work experience in the clothing industry,

having worked for 18 years as a clothing factory worker, served as a

trade union shopsteward and having held various positions as a trade

union official within the South African Clothing & Textile Workers Union

(SACTWU). She has also worked as the project-officer for the Human

Rights Media Centre and currently is the Station Manager — Radio

Atlantis in the Western Cape.

5.2.2 Ms Nazeema Teladia – Ordinary Resolution No 3.3

Ms Teladia obtained extensive knowledge of the clothing and textile

industry in her role as a trade union representative during the period

1986 — 1997. Thereafter she joined the CCMA and now serves as a

senior commissioner with the CCMA.

5.2.3 Mr Gys Wege – Ordinary Resolution No 3.4

Mr Wege qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1999 with 10 years of

post qualifying experience within the distribution and logistics sectors

having worked in various senior financial roles within the industry.

6. To confirm the fees paid to the directors – Ordinary Resolution

Number 4

“Resolved that the directors  fees paid to the directors of the Company

for the period ended 31 March 2009, as set out in the annual financial

statements accompanying the notice of annual general meeting, are

hereby confirmed.”

7. Reappointment of Auditor – Ordinary Resolution Number 5

“Resolved that Mr Gary Thompson of KPMG Inc is hereby re-appointed

as the auditor to the Company for the ensuing year.”

8. Approval of The Seardel Long Term Incentive Plan (“the

scheme”) – Ordinary Resolution Number 6

“Resolved that:

a) the scheme, the salient terms of which have been summarised in the

explanatory statement included in this annual report and which

scheme document has been tabled at this meeting and initialled by

the chairman for purposes of identification, be and is hereby

approved; and

b) 63,500,000 (sixty three million five hundred thousand) ordinary

shares of R0.25 (twenty-five cents) each in the capital of the

Company be and are hereby placed under the control of the

directors of the Company, who are specifically authorised in terms 

of section 221(2) of the Act to allot and issue all or any of such

shares in accordance with the terms and conditions of the scheme

and any amendments thereto.”

9. Authorisation of Directors – Ordinary Resolution Number 7

“Resolved that each and every director of the Company be and is

hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all such documents as

may be necessary or incidental to the implementation of the resolutions

passed at this general meeting.”

10. To transact such other business which may be transacted at 

an annual general meeting.

By order of the board

HCI Managerial Services (Pty) Ltd

COMPANY SECRETARY

Cape Town, 18 September 2009
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Seardel Investment Corporation Limited.
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number 1968/011249/06)

Ordinary shares (Share code: SER ISIN: ZAE000029815)

N ordinary shares (Share code: SRN ISIN: ZAE000030144)

( Seardel  or the Company )

For use at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at the registered address of the company, 1 Moorsom Avenue, corner Bofors

Circle and Moorsom Avenue, Epping Industria 2, 7460 on 29 October 2009 at 10:00.

Not to be used by beneficial owners of shares who have dematerialised their shares ( dematerialised shares ) through a Central Securities Depository Participant

( CSDP ) or broker, as the case may be, unless you are recorded on the sub-register as own name  dematerialised shareholders ( own name dematerialised

shareholders ). Generally, you will not be an own-name dematerialised shareholder unless you have specifically requested the CSDP to record you as the holder

of the shares in your own name in the Company s sub-register.

Only for use by certificated, own name dematerialised shareholders and CSDPs or brokers (or their nominees) registered in the Company s sub-register as the

holder of dematerialised ordinary shares.

Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder of the

Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that member at the annual general meeting.

Refer to notes on reverse side hereof.

To be returned to: The Transfer Secretaries 

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited

70 Marshall Street Johannesburg 2001

PO Box 61051 Marshalltown 2107

as soon as possible, to be received no later than 24 hours before the meeting.

I/We (Full names)

of (Address)

Telephone: Work (              ) Telephone: Home (              )

being a member(s) of the Company, holding ordinary shares and N ordinary shares in the Company

hereby appoint (refer note 1):

or failing him/her

or failing him/her

or failing him/her

or failing him/her the chairperson of the annual general meeting as my/our proxy to act for me/us on my/our behalf at the aforementioned annual general

meeting of shareholders of the Company and at any adjournment thereof in accordance with the following instructions:

Votes

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

Ordinary Resolution no. 1: Adoption of financial statements.

Special Resolution no. 1: General authority to repurchase company shares.

Ordinary Resolution no. 2: General authority over unissued shares.

Ordinary Resolution no. 3.1: Re-election of director: Mr Neil Norman Lazarus

Ordinary Resolution no. 3.2: Election of director: Ms Rachel Watson

Ordinary Resolution no. 3.3: Election of director: Ms Nazeema Teladia

Ordinary Resolution no. 3.4: Election of director: Mr Gys Wege

Ordinary Resolution no. 4: Confirmation of directors  fees.

Ordinary Resolution no. 5: Re-appointment of auditor.

Ordinary Resolution no. 6: Approval of the scheme, and specific authority over unissued shares.

Ordinary Resolution no. 7: General authorisation to the directors to implement resolutions passed.

Insert an X  in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish all your votes to be cast. If you wish to cast less than all the votes in respect of the shares

held by you, insert the number of votes in respect of which you desire to vote (100 votes per ordinary share and one vote per N ordinary share)  (see note 2).

Unless otherwise instructed above my/our proxy can vote as he/she deems fit.

Signed at on this day of 2009

Signature Assisted by (where applicable) Signature

Name of signatory Name of assistant

Capacity Capacity
(Authority of signatory to be attached if applicable - see note 6)

Form of Proxy

�
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NOTES:

1. A certificated or own name dematerialised shareholder or

nominee of a CSDP or broker registered in the Company’s

sub-register may insert the name of a proxy or the names of

two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the

space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of

the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion must be

initialled by the shareholder. The person whose name stands

first on the proxy form and who is present at the annual general

meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those

whose names follow thereafter. If no proxy is inserted in the

spaces provided, then the chairperson shall be deemed to be

appointed as the proxy to vote or abstain as the chairperson

deems fit.

2. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated in

the appropriate box provided. If there is no clear indication as

to the voting instructions to the proxy, the proxy will be deemed

to be authorised to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual

general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the

shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or his/

her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the

shareholder, but the total of the votes cast or abstained may not

exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder.

3. Proxy forms must be lodged with the Company’s transfer

secretaries at The Transfer Secretaries Seardel Investment

Corporation Limited, Computershare Investor Services 2004

(Pty) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 or

posted to Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty) Limited,

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107. Forms of proxy must 

be received or lodged by no later than 24 hours before the

annual general meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and

public holidays (i.e. 10:00 on 28 October 2009).

4. The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude

the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general

meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the

exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms thereof.  

5. Where there are joint holders of shares, the vote of the senior joint

holder who tenders a vote, as determined by the order in which

the names stand in the register of members, will be accepted.

6. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person

signing this proxy form in a representative capacity must be

attached to this proxy form unless previously recorded by the

Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of

the annual general meeting.

7. Any alteration or correction made to this proxy form must 

be initialled by the signatory/ies but may not be accepted 

by the chairperson.

8. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless

the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are

produced or have been registered by the Company’s transfer

secretaries.

9. The chairperson of the general meeting may, in his/her discretion,

accept or reject any form of proxy which is completed, other than

in accordance with these notes.

10. If required, additional forms of proxy are available from the

Company’s transfer secretaries.

11. If you are the owner of dematerialised shares held through 

a CSDP or broker and are not an own name dematerialised

shareholder, you are not a shareholder of the Company,

accordingly do NOT fill in this proxy form, subject to the

mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker:

• if you wish to attend the annual general meeting you 

must contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may be,

and obtain the relevant letter of representation from it;

alternatively.

• if you are unable to attend the annual general meeting but

wish to be represented at the meeting, you must contact

your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, and furnish it

with your voting instructions in respect of the annual

general meeting in accordance with the mandate between

yourself and the CSDP or broker, as the case may be. 

You must not complete the attached form of proxy. The

instructions must be provided within the time period

required by your CSDP or broker, as the case may be.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, recorded in the Company’s

sub-register as holders of dematerialised shares held on behalf

of an investor/beneficial owner should, when authorised in

terms of their mandate or instructed to do so by the person on

behalf of whom they hold the dematerialised shares, vote by

either appointing a duly authorised representative to attend

and vote at the annual general meeting or by completing the

attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions

thereon and returning it to the Company’s transfer secretaries,

to be received by not less than 24 hours prior to the time

appointed for the holding of the meeting.

Form of Proxy






